VG

YGME 85 R

2% L8 Stock Code: 00375 ' =

TRADING LTD.

BLACK CLSGVER

"ﬁn
-

[ . ‘\
E

- 11 Harmont&Blaine
L =Y
EK »

A% Guy Laroche

P A R I S

ASHWORTH

- )
J.LINDEBERG

MICHEL RENE
Annual Report R

a 2019/20

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Tommuy Bakama HE-T-EE-H-t—HILEE



H &k

Contents

AR W N N~

10
19
25
29
37
38

39
40
41
42
120

2 ) B OR

Corporate Information

T 45 W 05
Five Year Financial Highlights

EYE: A

Chairman’s Statement

P  wm B oy M

Management Discussion and Analysis

4 % i B

Corporate Governance Report

oW

Directors’ Report

ERERFUAHR

Directors and Management

1 S % B i
Independent Auditor’s Report

B A R R

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

A AR K I b 2 Wk AR R
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

5 4 W85 IR B 3k

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

5 A E A S W) 3R
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEABenaEk
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

S 5 % B ik

Notes to the Financial Statements

HEWE A

Principal Subsidiaries



1

»a & H

Corporate Information

L

AT #EH
Bk % (/)

A B () )
FEPR I (77 2048 40)
B3 4 (3 2 40 40 )
Ble 7k 42

Bie 7k 4t

1 o H B AT #E
45 48 0%
#5 U
6]

H#BEZHA

BB ()
B gL
&> A

HWZERE
W) ()
bk 4

Bk %

45 48 0%

B U

RHZHE

248 9% (1)
Bl %

Bk

#50

36 W)

B EMEHA
Bk & (3 )

JH Bl 5%

R B

Bl 3 28

F R AE R R AT

o b o 0 AT R )
]

Loeb & Loeb LLP

B Y i

S 16 o il 05 5 i

R OB 4 e ) 1 25 2R 2
Pe el

2 R

P M

EWE O K EE R
s JURE B R A
By % il K ¥ P R

Flrb B R BT ARAA

FEAEMPL T EE17124716 F
B By 4% 9% : 00375
2 ) 44 hk

www.ygmtrading.com

2019/20 Annual Report

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel (Chairman)

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley BBS JP (Vice Chairman)
Fu Sing Yam, William (Chief Executive Officer)
Andrew Chan (Managing Director)

Chan Wing Fui, Peter MA

Chan Wing Kee GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

Audit Committee

So Stephen Hon Cheung (Chairman)
Choi Ting Ki

Li Guangming

Remuneration Committee
Li Guangming (Chairman)

Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung
Nomination Committee
Choi Ting Ki (Chairman)

Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

Risk Management Committee
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel (Chairman)
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Fu Sing Yam, William

Andrew Chan

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Solicitors
Loeb & Loeb LLP

Auditors

KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Council Ordinance

Company Secretary
Kwok Ying Tung FCPA, FCCA, FCA, ACIS, ACS

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
22 Tai Yau Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shop 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, Hong Kong

Stock Code: 00375
Website

www.ygmtrading.com



h W hE =
Five Year Financial Highlights

(B 5 45 B 5 4F > ¥ Lt O 3 v~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
B Results of Operations
/N Revenue 269,818 360,675 575,690 760,510 894,240
EH Gross profit 139,337 240,771 352,461 433,212 524,604
EH & Gross profit margin 51.6% 66.8% 61.2% 57.0% 58.7%
e 1 Loss from operations (154,540) (85,414) (72,828) (104,525) (112,971)
£ s 4 R Operating margin -57.3% -23.7% -12.7% -13.7% -12.6%
HEY EMNE Net valuation (losses)/
(548) gains on investment
g TR ] properties (35,242) 5,330 3,770 7,400 5,185
&R E Y Net gain on disposal of
Wi 4 1 #E investment properties - 3,580 4,378 - -
HMERME R M Netgain on disposal of land
+ i IR and building held for
e own use - 44,753 - - -
B BB 4\ W Ui 25 Net gain on disposal of
T % subsidiaries - 129,510 220,790 - 29,845
TELE B BB K Reversal of provision for
BB & potential PRC customs
B4R 43R | duties and indemnity
liabilities and refund of
related distrained deposits 126,495 - - - -
ARNEIMESEBEE  (Loss)/profit attributable to
REAG (518) equity shareholders
T | of the Company (87,125) 90,189 151,023 (97,335) (87,871)
T (k53H) /4 F] #%  Net (loss)/profit margin -32.3% 25.0% 26.2% -12.8% -9.8%
Wt (f548) /L F (Loss)/earnings per share
—FE A — basic ($0.53) $0.54 $0.91 ($0.59) ($0.53)
g i b A S Interim dividend per share $0.10 $0.20 $0.20 - -
B R S Final dividend per share - $0.20 $0.50 $0.10 $0.05
B B4 A S Special dividend per share = - $4.00 _ _
R F Dividend payout -18.9% 741% 516.5% -16.9% -9.4%
W5 OR B Financial Position
%2R () Cash (used in)/generated from
EAZ B4 operations (14,896) (61,708) (51,467) 12,494 (49,706)
4 RAR1T454F  Cash and bank deposits less
WA MEITER  short-term bank loans and
)& overdrafts 146,011 315,124 234,486 143,877 75,379
W) A Net current assets 152,797 256,568 177,268 710,865 327,533
A E Total assets 725,132 919,985 961,854 1,326,242 1,452,598
A fE Total liabilities 167,298 215,417 213,205 165,379 164,817
Ji& BRORE 25 Shareholders’ equity 538,095 682,314 721,752 1,133,004 1,260,706
HHE FE [ R Return on total assets -12.0% 9.8% 15.7% -7.3% -6.0%
B HHE 5 M % Return on shareholders’ equity -16.2% 13.2% 20.9% -8.6% -7.0%
it B R (%) Current ratio (times) 2.3 2.2 1.8 5.4 3.0
EAR AR Gearing ratio 0.210 0.010 0.015 0.006 0.021
T Y i iy Number of shares
2H (T ) outstanding ("000) 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864
4T E Market capitalisation 497,592 1,169,341 978,598 1,293,739 812,734

Bf e : BRIRAN s A NS 16T A (8 —F — JUEM A — HRAR - AL 2 EHABRMA G R 2 &5hBUR - IREHER 28
TR SC > B O 2 ) A AR A 2 Oy U B B I D A 0 TR B AR SRR —F — USRI ] — B 2 R T T AR - R b ST R
Fe B > AR (fF By 7R AR ) 78 e s FHL 0% 20 R (RO 45 0 8 A 2 R R0 B S A R o P REE W T B T R AR 1 LA T Ak R S RO I A AL
EEAZHEMXEOR - R R - LEZ M T RIEZFEEZ 2B A BOR 25 -

Note:  As aresult of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 April 2019, the Group changed its accounting policies in respect of the lessee accounting
model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way of opening adjustments to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019. After initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of previous policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under the operating leases on a straight line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 are stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.
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Chairman’s Statement
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J£87,125,000% € » HHFI AT LB GIHE -
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2019/20 Annual Report

Group Results

The financial year under review started on a good note in April and May
2019. However, the prolonged social unrest and disturbances since June
2019 had significantly adversely affected our Hong Kong business as our
sales depend to a great extent of Mainland tourists which witness a
substantial drop since then. Furthermore, the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic (the “Pandemic”) in Mainland China made another serious blow
to our Hong Kong and Mainland China business.

Hence, the Group’s revenue declined from last year by 25.2% to
HK$269,818,000. Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
was HK$87,125,000 which included many non-cash items including
impairment losses on lease premium and retail store assets, valuation losses
on investment properties and reversal of provisions.

Business Review and Prospects

The wholesale and retail of branded garments, the core business of the
Group, declined from last year by 28.4% to HK$201,550,000 and all brands
suffered a loss. Hong Kong was seriously affected by the weakening of local
consumer confidence and the decline of the number of Mainland tourists
due to the prolonged social unrest and disturbances since June 2019. The
situation became worsen further after the outbreak of the Pandemic in
February 2020. Rental in Hong Kong is still high which represents a
considerably significant portion of the total retail operating costs, in particular,
in light of declining sales.

During the financial year, the Group acquired the trademarks and certain
related intellectual property assets worldwide associated with the “Ashworth”
brand at a cash consideration of USD4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,392,000). Original plans to the US and European market was affected
by the global outbreak of the Pandemic and we will see a later start subject
to the Pandemic situation.

The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of “Guy Laroche”.
The licensees were suffering from the Pandemic and we expect lower
licensing income.

Rental income from industrial premises in Hong Kong held steady but will
be facing downward trend. The commercial premises in London suffered
due to the city lockdown. The office on upper floors is now vacant and it
is difficult to find new tenant until after the city lockdown. Although we have
rights for upward only rent review when the first term of the restaurant lease
expired early this year, the tenant is asking for concession during the city
lockdown.

The security printing had another successful year despite difficult trading
environment. [t is also developing the new field security system which is
not yet profitable.

Outlook

Facing uncertainty in the coming year globally, the Group has made all efforts
to reduce costs and overheads to preserve working capital. The Group has
anet cash balance (after bank overdrafts) of HK$146,011,000 as at the end
of March 2020 and has strong financials to meet its current business needs.
However, the Pandemic is raging worldwide which has made the operating
environment extremely difficult. Despite it is still uncertain when the Company
can look forward to meaningfully expansion, the Group has made various
measures such as improving the staff organisational structure and cost
structure with the aim of maintaining the Group’s strength for its long term
development and enabling the Group to get through this difficult time and
recover its profitability soonest possible.

Appreciation

| would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the Board
of Directors for their valuable guidance and professional advice and to the
management and staff for their hard work and contributions during this year.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Key Performance Indicators
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2020 2019 +/(-)
#BxLT L Wt T oo S W)
HK$’000 HK$’000 change
FKBLIRE Performance Indicators
A Revenue 269,818 360,675 -25.2%
EH Gross profit 139,337 240,771 -42.1%
B Z Gross profit margin 51.6% 66.8% -15.2pp
K8 1R Loss from operations (154,540) (85,414) 80.9%
iy TR Operating margin -57.3% -23.7% -33.6pp
A%\ A RE 5 B SR A (Loss)/profit attributable to equity
(5 48) s shareholders of the Company (87,125) 90,189 -196.6%
F Uk 18) /4R 5 Net (loss)/profit margin -32.3% 25.0% -57.3pp
MEFE - BLE - 18 & EBITDA
Ji &1 7T 1Y &2 F (EBITDA) 51,064 115,217 -55.7%
EBITDA 3 EBITDA margin 18.9% 31.9% -13.0pp
4G P ] R Return on total assets -12.0% 9.8% -21.8pp
3o 5 0 Bt 3k B Financial Health Indicators
Bl B SRAT &5 A7 Cash and bank deposits less
RATIE X bank overdrafts 146,011 315,124 -53.7%
i) A R Net current assets 152,797 256,568 -40.4%
A E Total assets 725,132 919,985 -21.2%
ES =K Total liabilities 167,298 215,417 -22.3%
Jie SR HE 4t Shareholders’ equity 538,095 682,314 -21.1%
J R RE 45 0] R 2R Return on shareholders’ equity -16.2% 13.2% -29.4pp
i B % (1) Current ratio (times) 2.3 2.2 4.5%
AR B R Gearing ratio 0.210 0.010 2000.0%
I 3K 1ol it 9 B Shareholders’ Return Indicators
Jit (B #H) /& Al — 2= A (Loss)/earnings per share — basic $(0.53) $0.54 -198.1%
B i B Dividend per share $0.10 $0.40 -75.0%
kB % Dividend payout -18.9% 741% -93.0pp
Bl &G B e A Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure
B T 2 Bl Cash used in operations (14,896) (61,708) -75.9%
BEAS I —BREMABEEE  Capital expenditure — other than right-of-
LAk use assets 41,128 11,327 263.1%

B 5T PR T U B s ME S 16k L ) (1 =% Note:  Asaresult of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 April 2019, the Group
changed its accounting policies in respect of the lessee accounting model. In accordance
with the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting policies were
adopted by way of opening adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 April 2019. After initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the
Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under the operating leases on a
straight line basis over the lease term. The comparative information is not restated.

—JUAEI A — BB AR o A SR B8 A B R
TN & B2 it O o AR e J 2 o P MRS
B O S B AR AN 2 T K Jy 0B ) &S R O
DL RE R =% — JUF M A — B 2 i HE 5 2 R
BRI IR AR A (R
FR AN ) 2R ffe R R B AR R A R A A 2 R R
BH 32 LA R 0 T 4 A T A i R A TR LA AR
it w2 FEL 30T A0 A6 AL A A 2 L BH S B o LR

LRI 41 ) o

2019/20 4 #&
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E YR R

$%@3A$$fmq&ATﬂkz52%£
269818000#%7E & — JL4F + 360,675,000 #s
BHEFENEKES1.6% (F—JLE:
668%) Bl AEBMPKEHEE LR
1545400004%75(#? JL4E © 85,414,000 #&
o H IR f A AR 4E B (W A% O SETS K
;ctt%’é‘&%%?ﬁizm%,/H\%%%Jﬁlili%a:iﬁ
— JUAEZS A DA i At g R 0 B ) R
AN s A MY G O WS R RLE
AR RENHE: KA ?g?ﬁ
— A EEECOVID-1 9E‘f%j@mﬁ [BENE R FAT))
ﬁ—%%@%$%ﬂ@%§%ﬂk%ﬂ’$%%ﬁ
T B B R v e i I 5 [ R T M R S AR
TEIEEE M O

AR T T BR BCHR 3t B R T 40 S G S i
DL 6 B T Bk N A 6 98D B 2 i K

AL H AR N 2 K8 e 1 A TS AR R s o El
HI 25 36 9% 1E 3 A B 2 8 0 05 & & (B 55
EE W% JE%EJE'& %) 0 (E s 18
43,199,000 %5 JC » & A= W {H s 185 75 & il it A 4
B2 R A SRR B N RN Bk A R 1 o

R, BE KB E Y EMNEE B
35,242,000% Jo( = & — JU 4 IR &
5,330,000 # 7T ) K it By & A& BL IH
20,811,000 7t (ZF—JL4 : 5,173,000%70) »
e 10 B 8 E1 Y A b ) B B R TR AE PR RE Y B
T AR B 0 48 4% 42 3R 9] 126,495,000 # JC 0 AR A
A HE 25 FE A OB AL 48 £ 87,125,000 1 G ©
EOF-NFZHA=ZF—HILFE AEH
BE A5 25 5 A A {5 % R 90,189,000 ot >
EHRNHEREDE - FFEA AR L b K&
5 — F W A F A A B R AT B AR T Bk A5
1Y I &8 5 PRk g8 A 3£ 177,843,000 % 7T ©

BMEEXEFZFE A =FT—HILFE &4E
I 446 5 4 3 4 488457 14,896,000 70 (& —JL4F -

61,708,000#7C) o A —E_FFE=H=+—H >

7 & 559,798,000 i Jt > #& & 4 JE W
19,902,000 # 7T °

AR OFBFEZHA = —H > REEIBRE
1735 35 0 Bl & K BRAT &5 47 75 146,011,000 s
JC (& — JU4F 1 315,124,000 # JC) » 40 Bk 2
57 B 552,617,000 7t K K Wi 5 A B [ Ashworth
W R R Y A ER T B A AR R 4 g ik e R
W AT A7 31,392,000H T 1K B4 K SR AT 45
179870 169,113,000 JC o it =& —F 4 = H
=+—H- ZIKEEIHﬁVFEEH%CZJé#“
&8 (H £ 18,408,000 Jo( — & — JL 4
18,310,000 7T) -

A AREE R RRE X R LAY W
2 B e (B FIRE & A LA 19 32 1 499,736,000
T > 25 4E R B 11,327,000 # G o
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Results of the Group’s Operations

The Group’s revenue for the year dropped by 25.2% to HK$269,818,000
(2019: HK$360,675,000) and overall gross profit margin declined to 51.6%
(2019: 66.8%). Thus, the Group’s loss from operations rose to
HK$154,540,000 (2019: HK$85,414,000). Major attribute was a 28.4%
decrease in wholesale and retail of branded garments, the Group’s core
business, as a combined result of the weakening of local consumer
confidence amid the prolonged social unrest and disturbances since June
2019; the unseasonably warm weather adversely affected the sales of winter
clothing items; and the operating conditions for the Group were further
aggravated since February 2020 with the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic (the “Pandemic”), when the Greater China region, the core market
of the Group, where the Group operates encountered semi-lockdown of
cities and retailing activities had virtually come to a halt.

The Group took actions, such as offering deeper discounts, to lessen the
sales decline and reduce the inventory to a manageable level.

The Group’s loss from operations for the year included impairment loss on
retail store assets (including the right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment) of HK$43,199,000 made in accordance with the Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 36 because of losses at the Group’s retail stores due
to drastic decline of sales.

Loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company for the year
was HK$87,125,000 included net valuation loss on investment properties
of HK$35,242,000 (2019: gain of HK$5,330,000) and write-off of deferred
tax assets of HK$20,811,000 (2019: HK$5,173,000) but after reversal of
provision for potential PRC customs duties and indemnity liabilities and
refund of related distrained deposits of HK$126,495,000. The Group
reported profit attributable to equity shareholders of HK$90, 189,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019 which was principally due to exceptional gains
totaling HK$177,843,000 from disposal of an investment property, land and
buildings held for own use and the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group used HK$14,896,000 (2019:
HK$61,708,000) cash in operations. Inventories as at 31 March 2020 was
HK$59,798,000, a decrease of HK$19,902,000 from the previous year end.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and bank deposits net of bank
overdrafts of HK$146,011,000 (2019: HK$315,124,000), representing a
decrease of HK$169,113,000 after dividend payments of HK$52,617,000
and payment of HK$31,392,000 for the purchase of the trademarks and
certain related intellectual property assets worldwide associated with the
“Ashworth” brand. At 31 March 2020, the Group had trading securities with
fair value of HK$18,408,000 (2019: HK$18,310,000).

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$9,736,000 in additions
and replacement of other property, plant and equipment (other than right-
of-use assets), compared to HK$11,327,000 for the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Group’s Financial Position

The Group financed its operations by internally generated cashflows and
banking facilities provided by its bankers. The Group continues to maintain
a prudent approach in managing its financial requirements.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2020 were HK$557,834,000 (2019:
HK$704,568,000). The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the year was
0.210 (31 March 2019: 0.010) which was calculated based on total
borrowings of HK$7,485,000 (31 March 2019: HK$6,777,000) and leases
liabilities of HK$105,991,000 (31 March 2019: HK$Nil) and shareholders’
equity of HK$538,095,000 (31 March 2019: HK$682,314,000). The Group’s
borrowings are mainly on a floating rate basis.

Operations Review

Total sales of garment was HK$201,550,000 (2019: HK$281,360,000) and
recorded a loss for the year. As at the end of March 2020, the Group has a
distribution network of 86 points of sales (“POSs”) in the Group’s operating
market comprising 43 POSs in Hong Kong, 6 POSs in Macau, 27 POSs in
Mainland China, 9 POSs in Taiwan and 1 POS in Paris. A net increase of 7
POSs in total POSs from the end of March 2019. The Group will remain
prudent with regard to store network expansion.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired the trademarks and
certain related intellectual property assets worldwide associated with the
“Ashworth” brand at a cash consideration of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$31,392,000).

The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of Guy Laroche. Total
income of licensing of trademarks from external customers was
HK$26,042,000 (2019: HK$30,111,000). The segment recorded a loss for
the year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group holds certain properties held for rental in
Hong Kong and London respectively with total fair value of HK$243,112,000
and an industrial building held for own use in Hong Kong with a net book
value of HK$7,214,000. Currently, the said industrial building is wholly
occupied by security printing section. The re-development plan in respect
of the industrial building is still ongoing to maximise the benefits to the Group.

Security printing section slightly improved in sales from the previous year
and its segment profit surpassed that of the previous year.

Outlook

The global economic environment is prevailing with uncertainties due to the
Sino-US disputes. Furthermore, the Pandemic is raging worldwide which
has made the environment extremely difficult. The Group has made all efforts
to reduce costs and overheads to preserve working capital. In addition, the
Group has made various measures such as improving the staff organisational
structure and cost structure with the aim of maintaining the Group’s strength
for its long term development and enabling the Group to get through this
difficult time and recover its profitability soonest possible.
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Law and Regulations

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on the Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated to promoting
equal opportunities for all of our employees in different areas, including
recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff promotion, transfer,
and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on their ability, performance
and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race, religion, gender, age
or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our employees.
We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and safety legislations
and we have implemented an effective and safe working environment for
our employees.

We complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not identify
any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to workplace
quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach
of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill relevant
requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the manufacturing
and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or non-hazardous
water, etc..

Social Performance

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate citizen
and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes. We
encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participated in various
charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its corporate
social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the society.

Environment, Social and Governance Report

An environment, social and governance report will be published on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website no later than three months after the publication of the Company’s
annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a divergence
from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and uncertainties affecting
the Group are outlined below. In dealing with these risk factors and
uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with our stakeholders with the
aim of understanding and addressing their concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other
risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could become material in the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The global economic environment is prevailing with uncertainties due to the
Sino-US disputes. Furthermore, the Pandemic is raging worldwide which
has made the environment extremely difficult.

The principal business activities of the Group is retailing and wholesaling of
branded garments. The retail climate in the Group’s principal operating
markets remains challenging in the foreseeable future. Major attributes are,
in particular, the risk of volatile market conditions due to the Sino-US disputes
and the Pandemic and a high operating cost base from rental and staff cost.
Continuing adverse economic conditions in these markets may adversely
affect the Group’s financial position, potential income, asset value and
liabilities.

Currency Markets

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its investments outside
Hong Kong. The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong dollars,
however its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong receive revenue and incur
expenses in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations that occur during
the progress of translation of the results of these subsidiaries or during the
repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may have an impact
on the Group’s results.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements at
the local, national and international level. New policies or measures by
governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the returns
delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the commercial
operational of an individual business, with a resulting loss in revenue and
profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures are
in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

2019/20 £ % 8
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Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had approximately 440 employees (31
March 2019: 500 employees). The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages including medical subsidies and retirement scheme contributions
to its employees in compensation for their contribution. In addition,
discretionary bonuses may also be granted to the eligible employees based
on the Group’s and individuals’ performances.

Relationship with Suppliers

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop long-
term relationships with suppliers based on mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure high
quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers, suppliers
and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

Relationship with Customers

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service to
maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have access
to information about the operation and development of the Group through
annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to provide
customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which allow the
Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

Important Event After the End of The Reporting
Period
Saved as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements set

out in this report, there is no other important event affecting the Group which
has occurred since the end of the reporting period.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to uphold
a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes that the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence are essential
for protecting the interests of the Company and maximising shareholder
value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the financial year ended
31 March 2020, except for the deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, pursuant to which the non-executive directors of the Company should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The non-executive
directors of Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election requirements at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with Articles 96 and 105 of the
Company’s articles of association.

Board of Directors

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets overall objectives and
strategic directions of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “the
Group”), monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance. It
also decides on matters relating to annual and interim results, audited
financial statements, notifiable transactions, appointment and re-appointment
of directors, major acquisitions and disposals, material contracts, risk
management, major financings and borrowings, accounting and dividends
policies. The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group and also instructs the management to implement
the Board’s decisions and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee.

As at 31 March 2020, The Board comprises seven executive directors and
four independent non-executive directors. Subsequent to the resignation of
Mr. Chan Wing To and Mr. Lin Keping with effect from 16 April 2020, the
Board comprises six executive directors and three independent non-executive
directors. The number of independent non-executive directors represents
at least one-third of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors bring a diverse range of
expertise, skills and experience to provide effective guidance and an outside
perspective to all major decisions of the Group.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as well as
relationships between them are set out in the section of “Directors and
Management”.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 4, 4, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.

2019/20 £ % 10
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held in the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows:
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During the year, the 2019 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 18
September 2019. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed
out on page 11. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee, the members of Remuneration
Committee and the external auditor of the Company attended the AGM to
answer questions raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general
meeting are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows
good corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website on the day of the AGM.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed with the
Company in writing his independence from the Company in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that all independent non-
executive directors of the Company are independent with reference to Rule
3.18.
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Corporate Governance Policy and Duties

The Board is committed to ensure that at good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision D.3.1 of the Code which are set out below:

(

—

) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman of the
Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and overall business
development planning. The Chief Executive Officer’s duty is to oversee the
execution of daily business activities. The division of responsibilities at the
Board level is to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging
and funding suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the directors. The Company provides tailored
induction programme to new director upon his appointment to equip him
with the appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and to ensure that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the relevant law and the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the corporate governance code
and relevant Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to the
legislative and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for
their information. The Company also encourages directors to attend relevant
seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skill. During the year, all directors participated in contained professional
development in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the Code.
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Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an insurance
policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors and senior
management are protected from any liability arising from the performance
of their duties.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the affairs
of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up with written
terms of reference. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the expenses of the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting
Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. Subsequent to the
resignation of Mr. Lin Keping with effect from 16 April 2020, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, including,
Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is
chaired by Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung. The members’ attendance to the
Audit Committee meeting is listed out on page 11.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s internal control
system and its execution through the review of the work undertaken by the
internal and external auditors, evaluating financial information and related
disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and considering the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor the
interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s financial
statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has met with external auditor
twice a year, in the absence of management, to discuss any issues arising
from the audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the independence and quality of work
of KPMG and has recommended to the Board to re-appoint KPMG as
auditor for the year ending 31 March 2021.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from that
of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented by the
Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
and four independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr.
Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It was
chaired by Mr. Lin Keping. Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Lin Keping
with effect from 16 April 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprises of
Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Choi Ting Ki,
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming and is chaired by Mr.
Li Guangming. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration Committee
meeting is listed out on page 11.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and in
overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors. It would
also take into account whether the emoluments offered are appropriate
given the duties and performance of the respective individuals concerned
and whether such emoluments are competitive and sufficiently attractive to
retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
and four independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr.
Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming.
Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Lin Keping with effect from 16 April
2020, the Nomination Committee comprises of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter,
Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung
and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Choi Ting Ki. The members’
attendance to the Nomination Committee meeting is listed out on page 11.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, and assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-election of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executives. The Nomination
Committee will consider the suitability of the candidate on the basis of his
professional qualification, skills, experience and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out a policy of considering a number of factors when deciding on
appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
(considering factors like skills, knowledge and experience) that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board noted that the measurable objectives have been set for achieving
diversity on the Board. In addition, the Board is satisfied that its composition
is appropriate being considered the skills, experience and attributes of the
Directors. The Nomination Committee of the Company will monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the policy as
appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee performed
the following work:

()  reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board diversity policy
of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors:

(i) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
appointment of Directors; and

(iv) reviewed the directors nomination policy of the Company.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises four executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr.
Fu Sing Yam, William and Mr. Andrew Chan. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing
Sun, Samuel. The members’ attendance to the Risk Management Committee
meeting is listed out on page 11.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-
related matters.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by the
Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

()  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation:

(i) business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earning;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at
the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare
a dividend at any time or from time to time.

Emoluments of Senior Management

The Senior management of the Group comprises four individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior management are set out in
the section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:

L

Emoluments

HRAMARYH
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect
of the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 29 to 36.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit services for
the Group amounted to HK$2,445,000 (2019: HK$2,533,000) of which a
sum of HK$1,800,000 (2019: HK$1,899,000) was paid or payable to the
Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor, KPMG
and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in audit and non-audit were
HK$1,800,000 (2019: HK$1,899,000) and HK$204,000 (2019: HK$324,000)
respectively. The non-audit services represent tax services provided to the
Group.

201920 5 #& 1Q
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding director’s
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and its Securities Dealing Code throughout the year under review.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management, while management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for coordinating
risk management activities, and to report at least annually to the Board.
However, the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environments at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed
and risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk
owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation
of these action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Risk
Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes
in our business and the external environment, and considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control system was effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had implemented
procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information so that potential inside information can be promptly identified
and escalated up for deciding whether an announcement should be made
in order to ensure compliance with the continuous obligations under the
Listing Rules and the statutory obligation to disclose information under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”).

Internal Audit Function

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external consultant
to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has assisted the
Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal controls system
for certain selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed with management
and were reported to the Audit Committee.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Vice
Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction and
professional development of directors. The Company Secretary also keeps
proper records of all Board and Committee meetings. The biography of the
Company Secretary is set out on page 28. The Company Secretary has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the year.

Shareholders’ Right

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”’)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that an
EGM shall be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies
Ordinance. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors of the Company are required call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from shareholders representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for a
general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request may
be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered office of the
Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygmtrading.com and must be
authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must call a general
meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the requests to do
s0. The meeting called must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for handling. The contact
details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
YGM Trading Limited

22 Tai Yau Street,

San Po Kong,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygmtrading.com
Telephone: (852) 2351 1111
Facsimile: (852) 2351 5211

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

201920 £ % 18
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The directors submit herewith their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the
provision of management services. Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out on pages 120 to 121. Further discussion and analysis
of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 9
of this Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this director’s report.

Segment Information

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the year are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 10 HK cents (2019: 20 HK cents) per ordinary share
was paid on 3 January 2020.

The directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
(2019: 20 HK cents).

Share Capital

Details of the movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 24(c) to the financial statements. There were no
movements during the year.

Five Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results of operations and financial position of the Group
for the last five fiscal years is set out on page 2.

Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group are
set out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2020 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$1,000 (2019: HK$617,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers and purchases
from its five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
turnover and purchases respectively.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Fu Sing Yam, William

Andrew Chan

Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To (resigned on 16 April 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Lin Keping (resigned on 16 April 2020)
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygmtrading.com under ‘Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance’.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) would like to take this
opportunity to express its gratitude to Mr. Chan Wing To and Mr. Lin Keping
for their valuable contribution to the Company during their tenure of service.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s articles of association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation. Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr.
Fu Sing Yam, William and Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung will retire from the
Board by rotation, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

2019/20 % % 20
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Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 25 to 27 of this annual report. Further information
of the retiring directors proposed to be re-elected are set out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

Directors’ interests in Transaction, Arrangement
and Contracts

Apart from the details disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company;,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contract

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board of
directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of directors,
see section headed ‘Compliance with the Code of Best Practice’.

None of the directors who has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any other member of the Group which
is not determinable by the relevant employer within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at 31
March 2020 had the following interests in the issued shares of the Company,
its subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of
the SFO at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):
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i) 36,791,700 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Chan Wing To and Fu Sing Yam, William,
Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan family)
and its subsidiaries.

(i) 120,400 shares of the Company were held by Hearty Investments
Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Chan Wing To, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
and other members of the Chan family.

(i) 1,597,000 shares of the Company were held by Super Team
International Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee and Chan Wing To and other members of the Chan family.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the directors or
their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2020 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a partly to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholder’s Interest

As at 31 March 2020, the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that, other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of the directors, no other interests required to
be recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been
notified to the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the directors are not aware of any person who
was, directly or indirectly, interested or had a short position in the shares or
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company or any options in respect of such capital
as at 31 March 2020.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2020.

Connected Transactions

Details of the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are set out in note 27(b) to the financial statements. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions were entered into
by the Group:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or, where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) inaccordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable.

KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.



[ w1 = P R NN R NN/
o CH AT o] B 2% W) B RT 5L o I AE A A R A
S H SR AR AT A IR A5 8 A A R A A
SREECE DN

Al R R S )

Ay ) AE B A R A ST AE BT R AR Bk
14 7 5 Ch AR R ) <7 B > A 2 W R R AT
O JE AR AT W AT s AR AR AR 2 A
1 2w AL Ak = R 2R 06 ik K B 105 Mk A B R
FERG B R -

HEBRZHS

FEHEAEGH =B AT E FAR I
MR R F TG EALE ST
P AN AN T A% R AE R E AR A A 4
Z 5900 T B A S ) A

AR R E

HR 4 A 24 ) AT DA 2 2 2 B R R A
TR E LMW - AL FRA S HE %
TR 2 BRI

B Y i

RS U A B TR R AR o MR SR AT
ARG SRS BB wh RS T R A O ) A R 2
PR AR 2 R AR LR -

R H
S
Bk %%

Bl S FEAH LA

ERGHMS

Directors’ Report

Apart from the foregoing, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Compliance with the Code of Best Practice

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except that the non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to rotation in annual general meetings pursuant to Articles
96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of association.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors
and reports to the board of directors. The audit committee meets with the
Group’s senior management and external auditors regularly to review the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the annual report of the
Group.

Sufficiency Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, aged 72, received a Bachelor’s degree from
the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as
a Chartered Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) from 1974 to 1988 and
has been an executive director since 1977. Mr. Chan was the Managing
Director of the Company from 1987 to 2006 and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company from 2006 to 2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company from 2010 and was re-designated as the
Chairman of the board of director of the Company in September 2015. Mr.
Chan has been the chairman of the board of director of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, B8S, JP, is the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company. She joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294) in 1973 and has been an executive director from Jan 1983 to
April 2020. Madam Chan, aged 69, has extensive experience of management
in the garment retail and wholesale business. She is a Council Member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council (“HKTDC”), the Chairman of
Staff & Finance Committee of HKTDC, the Executive Committee Member
of the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Chairman
Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand Development Council, the Vice President of
the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment, a Council
Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”), the Chairman
of Advisory Committee on Textile and Clothing Industries of PolyU, a Member
of Rehabilitation Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. She received a Bachelor’s degree from Nottingham Trent University,
the United Kingdom in 1973.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, aged 58, received a Bachelor’s degree from the
University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1984 and joined the Group in
1985. Mr. Fu has been an Executive Director of the Company since 1995.
He was the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from 2006 to 2010
and was the Managing Director since 2010. Mr. Fu was re-designated as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2015. He has
extensive experience in fashion retailing, wholesaling, marketing and
merchandising. He is a Committee Member of the Heilongjiang Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Andrew Chan, aged 42, received a Bachelor’s degree in economics
from the University of Hartford, the USA in 2003 and joined the Group in
the same year. Mr. Chan has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 2014 and was re-designated as the Managing Director in September
2015. He has extensive experience in international brand licensing and
fashion retailing in Far East, the USA and Europe.
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Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA, aged 74, received a Master’s degree in
Administrative Science from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) in the same year. He was
appointed as the Director and Managing Director of Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited in 1971 and 1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of
directors of both Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and the Company in 1987.
Mr. Chan'is at present the Chairman of the board of directors of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited. He was the Chairman of the board of directors of the
Company from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Chan has been actively involved in garment
manufacturing and marketing in the Far East and the USA for over 30 years.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 73, received a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and joined Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited (stock code: 294) in 1970 as Production Manager and later became
Sales Manager. Mr. Chan was appointed as Director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited in 1977 and Managing Director in 1987. Mr. Chan has
been an Executive Director of the Company since 1987. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Kingboard Holdings Limited (stock
code: 148). Mr. Chan has participated in many textile negotiations with the
USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He is a Standing Committee
Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s
Congress of China; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development
of HKSAR, Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong; Ex-
Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Mr. Choi Ting Ki, aged 65, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the
Department of Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same
year and has held various positions, including partner of the audit department
of KPMG Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office,
Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired from
KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2012. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294).
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Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung, aged 64, has been a director of an accounting
firm T.M. Ho So & Leung CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is
the chief financial officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House
Group Limited (stock code on GEM: 8241). He has extensive experience in
the commercial sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public
practice working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Management
Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2017. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294)
since September 2017, Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) since
May 2015 and PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since
September 2002, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. So was an independent non-executive director of Milan
Station Holdings Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February
2017 and Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239)
from August 2017 to June 2019, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Guangming, aged 68, has over 40 years’ experience in the cotton
textile industry. He was appointed as deputy chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile
Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief of factory in February 1991. He
has held various positions in Wuxi City Guolian Development (Group)
Company Limited and its subsidiaries. Among other things, he was appointed
as the general manager of Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited
(now known as Wuxi No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October
2005, and subsequently served as the Chairman of its board until December
2014. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional University (now known as
Jiangnan University) and was a member of the Standing Committee of Wuxi
Municipal People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (stock code: 294).
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Directors and Management

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of
the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Chan Wing To are siblings. They are also the
cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and
Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.

Mr. Andrew Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William is the cousin of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr. Chan Wing Kee
and Mr. Chan Wing To.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company.

Management

Mr. Kenneth Hung, aged 53, joined the Group in 1992. Director of Michel
René Enterprises Limited. Mr. Hung graduated from the University of
Minnesota in the USA and has extensive experience in the apparel retailing
industry.

Mr. Hendrik H Penndorf, aged 56, joined the Group in 2007 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur General) of Societe Guy
Laroche and the Director of GL Europa S.A.. Mr. Penndorf, trained as a retail
trader, received a MBA degree at Hamburg University, Germany. He worked
for 15 years in senior management of a German department store chain
group based in Hamburg, Germany in various capacities from buying and
merchandising of fashion. He was the general manager of the department
store chain group. Before joining the Group. Mr. Penndorf worked for 2 years
as the managing director of Euro China Group Hong Kong which is a
boutique consultancy with mainly European blue chip clients.

Mr. Kwok Ying Tung, FCPA, FCCA, FCA, ACIS, ACS, aged 57, joined
the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Financial Controller of the Company in March 2018. Mr. Kwok is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a
fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, a member of The Chartered Goverance Institute and a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He holds a master degree
of Corporate Governance and a master degree in Business Administration.
Mr. Kwok has over 20 years of experience in fashion garment manufacturing,
retail and wholesale in China and has extensive experience in general
administration, accounting and finance field.

Mr. Ngai Kwai Yung, FCPA, FCPA(Aust.), MBA, aged 62, is the Managing
Director of Hong Kong Security Printing Limited. Mr. Ngai holds a Bachelor
of Commerce degree and a Master degree in Business Administration. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
YGM Trading Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YGM Trading
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
37 to 121, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to notes 2(a) and 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1j)(i).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Local economic conditions affect customer numbers and
spending power such that the revenue generated from each
retail store fluctuates during the lease term. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, certain of the Group’s retail stores were
underperforming which indicated the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of these
retail stores may not be recoverable and required assessment
of impairment.

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of these retail stores were determined by
management on a store-by-store basis based on value-in-use
calculations of these retail stores. In determining value-in-use,
discounted cash flow forecasts are prepared by the
management. Based on the impairment assessment,
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets amounting to HK$43,199,000 was recognised
in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail
stores included the following:

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model. This included challenging
management’s identification of impairment indicators and
cash-generating units;

e evaluating the key assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management, including
revenue growth rate, profit margin and costs of the retail
stores, by applying our knowledge of the business and
industry and comparing the discount rate to comparable
external information in the industry by performing market
research;

e comparing, on a sample basis, the data inputs used in
the discounted cash flow forecasts with the historical
performance of these retail stores;
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to notes 2(a) and 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of retail stores to be a key audit matter
because future cash flows and profits of the retail stores are
inherently uncertain and the significant judgements and
estimates used in the impairment assessments.

° performing a sensitivity analysis to evaluate the extent of
change in key assumptions that would result in impairment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of retail stores;

e enquiring of the Chief Executive Officer and senior
members of the sales team about any plans for retail store
closures; and

e considering the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of impairment testing of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
retail stores, with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to notes 2(c) and 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2020, the inventories of the Group amounted
to HK$59,798,000. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value (“NRV”) in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can be volatile due
to changing fashion trends, consumer demand and economic
retail conditions.

The changing tastes and patterns of consumption of customers
require the Group to periodically review its inventory portfolio
and dispose of off-season inventories at a markdown from the
original price to maintain the strength of the brand and make
room for new season inventories in its retail stores. Accordingly,
the actual future selling prices of some items of inventories may
fall below their purchase costs.

The Chief Executive Officer and senior members of the sales
team review the full inventory list regularly to identify inventories
which may need to be discounted in order to increase their
chances of being sold. Key data used in this review process
includes sales volume history and ageing patterns of inventories.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

e assessing whether the inventory provision at the reporting
date was consistent with the Group’s inventory provisioning
policy by recalculating the inventory provision based on
the percentages of inventory costs and other parameters
in the Group’s inventory provision policy;

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket;

e  assessing the Group’s inventory provision policy by
comparing management’s forecasts of the amounts of
inventories which will be unsold at the end of each season
and the corresponding forecast markdowns to the
historical sales amounts and markdown data for the
current and prior years;
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Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to notes 2(c) and 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the NRV of inventories as a key audit matter
because significant judgements and assumptions are involved
by management in estimating the amounts of inventories which
will be unsold at the end of each season and the markdowns
necessary to sell such off-season inventories on a discounted
basis through outlets and other channels in the following years.

e comparing the carrying amount of the inventories at the
reporting date to their NRV by reviewing the sales of
inventories subsequent to the reporting date;

e comparing inventory balances by season against
respective balances in prior years and the movement by
season against historical movements to identify inventories
which are relatively slow moving;

o performing a retrospective review on the Group’s inventory
provisioning policy by comparing the actual sales of
inventories during the year with management’s estimates
at the end of the prior year; and

e enquiring of the Chief Executive Officer and senior
members of the sales team about any expected changes
in plans for markdowns or disposals of off-season
inventories and comparing their representations with
actual sales transactions subsequent to the reporting
date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

2019/20 % % 34



¥ 5Lt BOE R

Independent Auditor’s Report

B W Gl #E G AR A M B R KR
¥ e

AR H B B AR M OR R T R A
PR A S S R I A R K B AR R A TR
A HLORRE > Sl LA A BT A R B o
FAM I 4 I8 A s (0 W] G 1) 55 405 R A9 B E
{2 1] 45 HE AL B ¥R o BR UL DA Sh > FRAM Y
AR AR HA & o FAMBEAS A S I R
AT o HoAt A 1 B S EOR IS i AT

BRI KT B PR RS o (EAS BE AR A 4 IR
W A E D AT B A A AR E R B R
2l A7 7E I A8 BE 98 B o B R B T LA iy JCRE B
B e g1 > W AR HTE T R R AR
AT RE 5 B AR A U B R T A O T RS i
T A B A P e o R AT BR RO B R BR AL T
BRAEE R -

TE AR P8 (T 8 5 w8 0D A A7 95 w9 A b
WA T HE R R E B R -
A IR -

o IR Al A R BT BB WA SR A
S B R A AR E R B R 0 A B
FE B BLAT A R 7 DAME B0 e R B > LA
Jo B TE R AN R B RH IR AR R
1 5 LB LBt ol R AT RE B B AR R
R 2 b R R BE R B IR T
B0 R B R R AL R JE B R R R fiE B
PRI 5 o T 5 0010 F Kt Bt 1Y Jal B

o T PR BELTE FR AR B A0 ok AR A LA R
HHEASERF O HAWIEFESY HEH
AT P8 2 1 B A P B R R

o R 50T BRI A OO U000 R f
A B A S

o B RN R AUE & R RS E
T 45w o MR P R B S IR Tl
SE 15 A7 7E B 3 TH BT UL A B A9 R A
ol Mk AE T AT RE A BCH EAE BB
A KE B RE 7 A R BEJE o A R AN R
T A TE R AN HEE I A 0 B AE
I ¥ 5 Hh e o ) AR S B R
IR A B A B o R AT B B ER R
UM R R mAREER - KM
A i o R WO R B BT IO B R
R o SR > R A o IH S DL AR
B OREBARSHELE -

35 2019/20 Annual Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheng Pui Ngar.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

#E = F ZFE =) =+ — H IE4F B Forthe year ended 31 March 2020
(Ll i T 5 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
(B E)
(i 2020 (Note)
Note $°000 $°000
B A Revenue 3&4 269,818 360,675
S AN R Cost of sales and direct costs (130,481) (119,904)
EBH Gross profit 139,337 240,771
At s 15 7 A Other net loss 5 (3,278) (3,926)
o3 88 AR Distribution costs (203,376) (236,954)
TECE H Administrative expenses (77,555) (82,637)
HoAth 8 4% 2 Other operating expenses (9,668) (2,668)
#2481 Loss from operations (154,540) (85,414)
BEY A E OB 8) I Net valuation (losses)/gains on investment
T8 properties 11(a) (35,242) 5,330
R T W) 2 i TR AR Net gain on disposal of an investment property 11(f) = 3,580
HERE A L X T  Net gain on disposal of land and buildings
Wi %5 13 A held for own use 11(g) - 44,753
H R B 2 T i A TR AR Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary 28 - 129,510
T P I B B R 38 Reversal of provision for potential PRC customs
] 455 e AH B F0 41 #2 23B 1 duties and indemnity liabilities and refund of
3 related distrained deposits 23(a) 126,495 -
il B AR Finance costs 6(a) (3,841) (75)
B BE T O 1) %t A (Loss)/profit before taxation 6 (67,128) 97,684
Jir 15 Bt Income tax 7(a) (22,392) (6,602)
A AR Ol 1) %2 A (Loss)/profit for the year (89,520) 91,082
8 - Attributable to:
A ) RE g B R Equity shareholders of the Company (87,125) 90,189
I P2 I M 5 Non-controlling interests (2,395) 893
A AR Ol 48) Wi A (Loss)/profit for the year (89,520) 91,082
)5 Ol 48) B A (Loss)/earnings per share 10
JE K J i v Basic and diluted $(0.53) $0.54

Mist: AEEE R F—LFEWNHA —HBE ) Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the

R 7 s B RS R 45 VE R A 16 BE O e 1 modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
i REEEWME EHTE T A comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

A LR o 2 B MR AR 1(c) H

A2 F 121 Z WAL AR BB R 2 — Al e & The notes on pages 42 to 121 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
A B A AR 23 TR 2 IR R 1Y L 1R B B e 4 24(b) payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 24(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#E —F ZFE=H = — H IL 4 E For the year ended 31 March 2020
(L Jc 8 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
(Wt &%)
2020 (Note)
$°000 $'000
AR BE O 1)k A (Loss)/profit for the year (89,520) 91,082
7% AP JBE B i 4 i W A Other comprehensive income for the year (after
(B 4% K 7597 2 390 W #%) tax and reclassification adjustments)
FC 7% 1] RE A 40 M 1R Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
ZIHHA - loss:
55 7 s L AN B A W Exchange differences on translation of
Yo S Sk R i A AR financial statements of subsidiaries
BEE 58, 75 % outside Hong Kong (7,335) (14,092)
7R AR 5 I il 2 i MG 2 Other comprehensive income for the year (7,335) (14,092)
7 AF B 2 Thi K At 48 8 Total comprehensive income for the year (96,855) 76,990
B Attributable to:
A ) HE fi SR Equity shareholders of the Company (94,460) 76.667
T P2 I HE 25 Non-controlling interests (2,395) 303
7 A B A W MK 2 A Total comprehensive income for the year (96,855) 76,990

Mist: AEBCD R 2 —LFEMN A —H &k  Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the

B 35 s BB 45 v R A 16 9 SIf 938 4 modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
&K EFTBEME T ET A comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

A LR o 2 B MR AR 1(c) H

FA2H EHEA121 B Z MGk R BB R E£ Z — a8 - The notes on pages 42 to 121 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
B F A = A = A — H At 31 March 2020
(LL i JC 1 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
(Bt 5E)
Bt 51 2020 (Note)
Note $°000 $'000
FE i ) ¥ A Non-current assets
[P <L/ ES ‘ Investment properties 11 243,112 278173
AW 2 ~ Wk 5 B vk i Other property, plant and equipment 11 62,552 21477
) 305,664 299,650
Y 8 Intangible assets 12 133,442 102,050
fH 5 HE 2 1 Lease premium 13 - 5.764
M&isE Rental deposits 9,959 16,436
R AT B TH Deferred tax assets 22(0) 4,226 25 607
453,291 449,507
Wit W % Currentassets |
EEE R ®Z& 5 Trading securities 14 18,408 18,310
1 £ Inventories 15(a) 59,798 79,700
ARG AL R R R G At B iR Trade and other receivables 16 39,433 50,353
AR 3R] R (A B IE Current tax recoverable 22(a) 706 214
B4 KBl &S5 EY Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) 153,496 321,901
271,841 470,478
it o £ Current liabilities
ATIE L Bank overdrafts 19 7,485 6,777
JRE AT W R B JEL Ath 1 AT Rk B Trade and other payables and contract
& I B liabilities 18 52,205 76,206
& & Lease liabilities 20 59,017 _
A 1 A B IR Current tax payable 22(a) 337 638
B Provisions 23 - 130,289
119,044 213,910
U By & e Net current assets 152,797 256,568
B8 % 7 U B B0 Total assets less current liabilities 606,088 706,075
I R ) £ K Non-current liabilities
L B Lease liabilities 20 46,974 _
A% SiE Bl JH B K Deferred tax liabilities 22(b) 1,280 1,507
48,254 1,507
¥ e ¥ i NET ASSETS 557,834 704,568
JBe A B Gk A CAPITAL AND RESERVES
B N Share capital 24(c) 383,909 383,909
ol Reserves 154,186 298,405
7 2 i) HE 2 JBe 3R Total equity attributable to equity
ME A BE 2% 44 781 shareholders of the Company 538,095 682,314
Ik ¥ e B 2 Non-controlling interests 19,739 20 254
BE 25 A4 TOTAL EQUITY 557,834 704,568
[ N = Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the

modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the

A BIEETEWE EH T IET ,‘ ~ comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).
O G R - BB EE S 1(0) 1A -
FEEN F FENH FHUH AL Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
HES A - 2020.
Bl 7k %% ) Chan Wing Sun, Samuel )
) )
) EHF ) Directors
JH B L% ) Chan Suk Ling, Shirley )
) )

HAPEH EHE121 HZ Wit AR MK 2 — 30 - The notes on pages 42 to 121 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#E F ZFFE = =+ — H I JZ For the year ended 31 March 2020
(L Jc 8 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BBAL AR R R
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

i3 RA  SHERE  EERE  REEA BE  FrmRER O EEAE
Share Exchange  Revaluation Retained Non-controlling
Note capital reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
([ E24(c) (W5 24(d)) (7 24(chi) (f3E)
(Note 24(c))  (Note 24(a)())  (Note 24(d)(i) (Note)
R-%F—MENA—H  Balance at1April 2018 383,909 (27,644) 99,229 266,258 721,752 26,897 748,649
WS Changes in equity:
AL i 7 Prolfit for the year - - - 90,189 90,189 893 91,082
HAb A s Other comprehensive income - (1352) . - (13522 570) (14,092)
AEE2H A Total comprehensive income - (13522) - 90,189 76,667 33 76,990
WEFECHER Dividends approved and
EARRE paid in respect of the
previous year 24(0)(i - - - (82,932 (82,932) - (82,932)
AEETER R Interim dividend declared
EXopaitcl 35! and paid in respect of
the current year 2400)(i - - - (33,173) (33,173 - (33,173
Bt PSR BB Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - - - - (4,999) (4,999)
I T B Loan from non-controling
interests - - - - - 3 33
i O Release of revaluation
Ak reserve upon disposal of
a subsidiary 28 - - (85,797) 85,797 - - -
R=F—-W#EZH=+—H Balanceat3! March 2019
R=F—AAEWA—N  and1 April 2019 383,909 (41,166) 13432 326,139 682,314 22,254 704,568
S Changes in equity:
KRR Loss for the year - - - (87,125) (87,125) (2,395) (89,520)
LR UES 16 Other comprehensive income . (733) . _ (7,3%) - (7,3%)
AEE 2R A Total comprehensive income - (7,335) - (87,125) (04,460) (2,395) (96,855)
BEFECHER Dividends approved and
e E paid in respect of the
previous year 24(0)(i) - - - (33,173) (33,173) - (33,173)
REFEERR Interim dividend declared
Eff e and paid in respect of
the current year 24(0)() - - - (16,586) (16,586) - (16,586)
EFFEERMES RS Dvidends paidto
non-controlling interests - - - - - (120) (120)
REFZFFZN =11 Balance at 31 March 2020 383,909 (48,501) 13,432 189,255 538,005 19,739 557,834

WMiaE: AL R —F —
PR T AT o BB R

LEMH —H B K
HE HI) 25 16 9% I 13t 4%
HFREEFTEMWL FRFET R

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

51 R o 22 B T RE S8 1(c) JH

FA2H B 121 HZ Wil AR B K Z — it o

The notes on pages 42 to 121 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

#E = F ZF4E = =+ — H IE4F B For the year ended 31 March 2020
(LL % JC 5 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
()
is: 2020 (Note)
Note $000 $'000
BEWE Operating activities
MEERNHZHE Cash used in operations 17(b) (14,896) (61,708)
(B ) ,/48 b B IR Tax (paid)/refunded
— AT A AR - Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (1,986) (964)
— O A DA AN R B IR - Tax paid outside Hong Kong (567) (1,173
— 1B [ & 5 M 15 B - Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 229 11
(2,329) (2,126)
BEWRDIN B4 T8 Net cash used in operating activities (17,220) (63,834)
HEEG Investing activities
YNEREERY (=R T EE Payment for the purchase of other property, plant and
equipment (9,736) (11,327)
1A TE & E 3k Payment for the purchase of intangible assets 12 (31,392 -
WEAEEE g2 Bk Payment for the purchase of trading securities - (10,456)
KX a8/ E X CY Q| Proceed from disposal of an investment property 11(f) o 10,880
WEREA R T R E Proceed from disposal of land and buildings held for
I 15 50 own use 11(9) - 50,000
4 R A T 2 R B Net cash inflows in respect of disposal of subsidiaries 28 - 215,746
4 AE T i 2 2 B AR Proceeds from disposal of trading securities - 7,863
2l F L Interest received 5 2,552 2,473
BEBHHR) /EEZR LS Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (38,576) 265,179
BEED Financing activities
I 4 IR HE £ B T 15 A Proceeds from a loan from non-controlling interests - 33
B A S0 EAR S Capital element of lease rentals paid 17(0) (54,328) -
O3 F B AR 4 1Y FLE 3 40 Interest element of lease rentals paid 17(0) (8,715) -
S Interest paid 17(c) (126) (79)
EMAANFHEZREZ KA Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company (52,497) (115,059)
O A JF 2 PO 45 T B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (120) (4,999
RN B A5 Net cash used in financing activities (110,786) (120,100)
BReRBESHED (W), HimFH  Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (166,582) 81,245
RAERZ B8 RB L% Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 315,124 234,486
N A ES T IPAA Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,531) (607)
RERZBERBLEEYD Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17(a) 146,011 315,124

Wiek s AEHOHR —F - JLFENA —HERK
PR 7 s B B i VR UG 16 9% 3 98 4
BT ERITET A
I LR o 2 B M AR 1(c) H

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

FA2H B 121 H Z Wil AR MBS K Z — il e

The notes on pages 42 to 121 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 25 45 B 15 4F - ¥ LI o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Significant accounting policies

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (‘HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment properties where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(f);
and

—  trading securities (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F > 2 LI it JC %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

F 2 F8OR (8)

(b)

(c)

T R # Z HE (4)
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and
a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have
had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has opted for the early adoption of the
Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.
which is effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1
June 2020.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives, and
HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of transactions involving
the legal form of a lease. It introduces a single accounting model
for lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have
alease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases
of low-value assets. The lessor accounting requirements are
brought forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the
consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 April 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach. Comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F - # L1 o % 717 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

a.  New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis
of whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined by a defined
amount of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 April 2019. For contracts entered into before 1
April 2019, the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are or contain leases. Accordingly,
contracts that were previously assessed as leases under
HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee, including
leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17, other than those short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets which are exempt. As far as the Group is
concerned, these newly capitalised leases are primarily in
relation to properties and office equipment as disclosed in
note 26. For an explanation of how the Group applies lessee
accounting, see note 1(i)(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019), the
Group determined the length of the remaining lease terms
and measured the lease liabilities for the leases previously
classified as operating leases at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the relevant
incremental borrowing rates at 1 April 2019. The weighted
average of the incremental borrowing rates used for
determination of the present value of the remaining lease
payments was 4.0%.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i)

the Group elected not to apply the requirements of
HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets to leases for which the
remaining lease term ends within 12 months from the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where the
lease term ends on or before 31 March 2020; and

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied on the
previous assessment for onerous contract provisions
as at 31 March 2019 as an alternative to performing
an impairment review.

The following table reconciles the operating lease

=t —HEREHEREEMEE commitments as disclosed in note 26 as at 31 March 2019
BENEF—JUEMHA —H to the opening balance for lease liabilities recognised as at
W) 45 BR B B R R 1 April 2019:
—E LA
mH—H
1 April 2019
$000
AR -NEZH =+ —HHEEM Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019
TR 210,305
W T AL B BRI Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from
capitalisation:
— 0 HA A B i At i R — short-term leases and other leases with
TR CEFEZHA = —HEZH remaining lease term ending on or before
IE 45 L 31 March 2020 (34,604)
175,701
W AR AR B S A Less: total future interest expenses (72,801)
W E—JUET A — H iR & A Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019
A 102,900
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised at an
amount equal to the amount recognised for the remaining
lease liabilities, adjusted by the previous assessment for
onerous contract provisions recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2019.

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption
of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of

VIS OB- 7% financial position:
e SIS e SIS
ZRZ1T—H BEAMESH WH—H
Z W i fi HARILAEH Z Wi i
Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying
amount of operating amount
at 31 March lease at 1 April
2019 contracts 2019
$000 $000 $000

RUBEMHRFENE16%  Lineitems in the consolidated statement of
HESMBERAEWIEAZ financial position impacted by the adoption
bR of HKFRS 16:

BEmE Investment properties 278,173 13,413 291,586
HAWE - B & Other property, plant and equipment 21,477 78,887 100,364
B0 Total non-current assets 449 507 92,300 541,807
MEARE LS Lease liabilties (current) - 52,374 52,374
it Provisions 130,289 (10,600) 119,689
SRR Current liabilities 213,910 44,774 255,684
L 0 Net current assets 256,568 (41,774) 214,794
0% 7 W A Total assets less current liabilities 706,075 50,526 756,601
AR ERE) Lease liabilties (non-current) - 50,526 50,526
B8 9 8 £ Total non-current liabilities 1,507 50,526 52,033
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required
to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the
right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. This results in a
positive impact on the reported loss from operations in the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss, as
compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied during
the year.

In the consolidated cash flow statement, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their capital element and interest element (see note
17(c)). These elements are classified as financing cash
outflows, similar to how leases previously classified as
finance leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating
leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a
significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
consolidated cash flow statement (see note 17(d)).

Leasehold investment property

Under HKFRS 16, the Group is required to account for all
leasehold properties as investment properties when these
properties are held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation (“leasehold investment properties”). The Group
is required to recognise lease liability relating to a lease of
the underlying leasehold land of its investment properties
which was previously classified as an operating lease under
HKAS 17 and add back any recognised lease liability to arrive
at the carrying amount of the investment properties.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

e. Lessor accounting

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor
remain substantially unchanged from those under HKAS 17.

Under HKFRS 16, when the Group acts as an intermediate
lessor in a sublease arrangement, the Group is required to
classify the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, instead of by reference to the underlying asset. The
adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in this
regard.

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-
19-Related Rent Concessions. The amendment provides a
practical expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass the need to
evaluate whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic (“Covid-19-
related rent concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead,
account for those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendment and apply
the practical expedient to all qualifying Covid-19-related rent
concessions during the year ended 31 March 2020. Consequently,
rent concessions have been recognised as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurs (see note 11(c)).
There is no impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 April
2019.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

(e)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 1(n) or (0) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(e)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 1(j)(ii)).

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments, other than investments in
subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 25(f). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows:
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Other investments (continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest method (see note

1(B)(v)).

—  Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
(recycling), if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

—  FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(i)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 1(t)(iii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property interest
under an operating lease and used the property to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could elect on
a property-by-property basis to classify and account for such
interest as an investment property. Any such property interest
which had been classified as an investment property was
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note
1(i), and the same accounting policies were applied to that interest
as were applied to other investment properties leased under
finance leases. Lease payments were accounted for as described
in note 1(i).

2019720 % # §0)
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property held for own use, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1())(ii)):

— interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is
the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(j));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold or
leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest (see note 1(j)); and

—  items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 1(i)).

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, any difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of
the lease.

—  The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of
the lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more
than 50 years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Leasehold improvements, motor vehicles

and furniture and equipment 2 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

(i)

Trademark acquired and lease premium paid by the Group with
an indefinite estimated useful life are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(j)(ii). Expenditure on internally generated brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i)  Asalessee

(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(g) and
1()(i)), except for the right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are carried at fair value
in accordance with note 1(f).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in ‘other
property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

Leased assets (continued)

M

As a lessee (continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group were classified as operating leases, with the

following exceptions:

property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property was classified as investment property on
a property-by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, was accounted for as if held
under a finance lease (see note 1(f)); and

land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which could not be measured
separately from the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease, was
accounted for as being held under a finance lease,
unless the building was also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception
of the lease was the time that the lease was first
entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(@)

Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

B

Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019 (continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, o, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets were
recognised as other property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation was provided at rates which wrote off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it was likely the Group would
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as
set out in note 1(g). Impairment losses were accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out
in note 1(j)(i). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments were charged to profit or loss over the period
of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals were charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they were incurred.

The cost of acquiring land under an operating lease
was amortised on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease term except where the property was
classified as an investment property (see note 1(f)).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The
rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 1(t)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note 1(j)(), then
the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(j)  Credit losses and impairment of assets

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables); and

—  lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

o)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate;

— leasereceivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

M

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due date;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

G

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(v)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than properties carried at revalued
amounts);

—  pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being
held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets;
- lease premium; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets and lease
premium that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

o)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

Areversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(iiy  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see note 1())).

(k) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

(m)

(n)

(o)

(r)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(t)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 1(m)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note(j)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note

1(v)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1())(i).

2019/20 4 ®& (2
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q9)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exception to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(f), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

2019/20 % % (G4



Wi $it 3R B s

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F > 2 LIt o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 3 % &5k %R (s

(r) Pifd#i(4)
A 0 L T & iR R SE B & B A
BB G SR > I BN T K o
A B MR IE B E A R E
TE A 3 7] BOA 46 T A ik E 4T B
A S B TE R B AR 0 B B0
A HAF & BT B A R 2 A UT
A A DA g3 il 3B AR ) B T B A AR
HE ol JH £ A

— AMBIHEEMA MG AR A
oA B W A AL R AR
ol 7] IRF S B 5% S A R B R
&

- BEEMEEEMAR: GLERE
B i 28 B[] — Tl B A B el
DTN Herp —JHE 2 BT BLA B

— A EERBLEE

— NFMEFRBLEM G H
e W # R A O B R
Bl IH B R 20 1 SO
Bt T & 7 AT DA ) 2 g R
AR ] > f T AR O E A
BB E B A A
9B AR SR B B
% A R AL

(s) PR REKSKAGE
() Al Moe ok s

A B R Rt 28 AR B S
R A&k E UM E AR G AT RE
DL AT SE Al 5 64 48 % R 45 DAV 1
ABFAE > AR i RB i -
i SR B W R T (E R A B
i ) % TR B AT BT W B S
1 B AE 51 i

SRR B AR A 4R RO AT RE
PEAR K SR 95 5 A B &
f t ar 58l &t fE & 8 5% AT
5% 7y SR A BT R
) i 149 7T BE P B A A 155 DLBR Ab
an SR A SR R AT LR — 5%
IR R AT A
il E & A A7 AE > IS R B
BR B H AT AR R 4R
9 AT HE T B A 19 7 LB Sh o

65 2019/20 Annual Report

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(s)

®

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected
to be received from the contract. Provisions for onerous
contracts are measured at the present value of the lower of
the expected cost of terminating the contract and the net
cost of continuing with the contract.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of printing and related services,
the licensing or the use by others of the Group’s assets under
leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of garments and printing
products is recognised when goods are delivered to the
customers’ premises or picked up by customers for
domestic sales and when goods are shipped on board for
export sales which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer takes possession and accepted the goods.

(i)  Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

(u)

Revenue and other income (continued)
(iv) Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

—  Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

(v) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.

(vi) Service fee income

Service fee income is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the exchange reserve.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(1) Aperson, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

2019/20 % % (B8



Wi $it 3R B s

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F > 2 LIt o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

F = 5 BOR (8
w) BN A (#)

(x)

@ A AF S T AL AT A B
LA 4% [ A B (D)

(vi) ECH 32 (1) BT ek N
oy % 3L A #E 4f o

(vil) 7 (1)) B ik BN - 3 E RS A
DN DIEY A g X
ZEENEAR) FEEH
&R B e

l6] A 48 ] A 4 B A ) A
R4 FEEHERE R Z
B S AR 2 AT A
WA~ ] -

EEOPNS IR PR N
RERUEIE A 3 E- N 8 P Nn
FEBNFEEWRA -

(viil

5 R

B B i 3R T R R RC A 2 T B A o1
AR IE H KA TR 5 o B B IR T A
B [ R[] 3655 I M [ A % R Al R% S
SEH B i I Y 3% B E W 1) A 4
F T RRAT B PR 4R 2SI BB R
Hh o A H A o

EONUR 7 S TR U N =)
WA o ME 23 I A L AR
B RLE EE i BB B MR AR R
REPEE ~ & RS ORI~ AR 20 8
FE bl B e IR B B O ik L M BE R R
35 VB D T AR AR B B Ab o AR R JF
HORR RS WA S Bk
S R HE S R RZ S AL o I R e

o B o

69 2019/20 Annual Report

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)() has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 11(b), 12, 13 and 25 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to valuation of investment properties,
fair value of intangible assets, lease premium and financial instruments
respectively. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as
follows:

(a) Impairment of other property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and lease premium

If the circumstances indicate that the carrying values of these
assets may not be recoverable, the assets may be considered
“impaired” and an impairment loss may be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. Under HKAS
36, other property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable, while
intangible assets and lease premium with indefinite useful lives
are tested for impairment annually. When such a decline has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In determining the recoverable
amount, expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to revenue growth rate, profit margin, cost of
the retail stores and expected royalty charge rate. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount that is
a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount. However,
actual revenue growth rate, profit margin, cost of the retail stores
and expected royalty charge rate may be different from
assumptions which may result in a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the assets affected. Details of the nature and
carrying amounts of other property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and lease premium are disclosed in notes 11,
12 and 13 respectively.

(b) Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine
the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group’s
historical experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.

(¢) Write-down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this review, a write down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable value
decline below their carrying amounts of inventories. Due to
changes in customers’ preferences and actual saleability of goods
may be different from estimation and profit or loss in future
accounting periods could be affected by differences in this
estimation.

2019/20 £ % T Q)
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2 Accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

(d)

(e)

"

(g

Provisions

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s)(i),
the Group had recognised provisions in respect of indemnity
liabilities and potential People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) customs
duties as detailed in note 23. Management estimates the
provisions with reference to the signed sales and purchase
agreement, communication with regulatory authority and the
status of the investigation. The provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period or when there are changes in
management’s estimate of the possible outflow of economic
benefits which involve a significant degree of management
judgement. Any increase or decrease in the provisions would
affect profit or loss in future years.

Impairment of trade debtors

The Group uses a provision of matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matric is based on management’s estimate of the lifetime
expected credit losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking
into account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
receivables, customers’ repayment history and customers’
financial position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which involve a
significant degree of management judgment.

Deferred tax assets

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the
Group has recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative
tax losses and other temporary difference as at the year end
based on management’s assessment that it is probable that future
taxable profits against which the assets can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such estimates are
changed.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value for the Group’s investment properties is calculated
by an independent firm of surveyors by making reference to the
comparable sales evidence in the relevant locality, or otherwise,
by capitalising the current rent derived from the existing tenancies
with provision for any revisionary income potential. The valuation
model used by the property valuer makes use of market inputs.
Should changes be made to the market inputs, the corresponding
investment property valuations would change.



W i R B s

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 5 45 Br 15 4F - # LI i o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 A

AL 2 E O EH By R B R
BEA KRR A W RE DL
A BRI~ — BT € BB M R BRI E A o

(i

EPNION Y P

HE R WA B 0 BB ZF 054
W 4 4R

3

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are garment wholesaling and
retailing, trademark ownership and licensing, property investment and
provision of security printing, general business printing and trading of
printing products.

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
significant category of revenue is as follows:

2020 2019
$000 $000
V8 WE %5 W5 ME W) 481598 % Bl Revenue from contracts with customers
B %P A HBA within the scope of HKFRS 15
5 AR Sales of garments 201,550 281,360
BRI RE 2 SRR B i AR Royalty and related income 26,042 30,111
ETY R B AH B IR 5 Ui 28 Income from printing and related services 33,476 33,347
261,068 344,818
L JERN R L PN Revenue from other sources
G M A A Gross rentals from investment properties
—HEMNZ A EHKEFRE - lease payments that are fixed or depend
W By % on an index or a rate 8,750 15,857
269,818 360,675

e A BRI 20 U & %) % 45 b [ T
35 B2 5 TS W R 5 A(0) JH -

AW 2P RS T RRE
CECFE R F L =
= b FIR A U Sl 8
555 MR A KA 1 15 2 — -

HWE R S B BEE ST A
AT 1R B A T R

A AR B T BR AR U B i E AN 2R
159E5E 121 B al AT REEL T ik - UL
TR Fo 0 TE U BR A — 4R BUCE AR Y
[ DL R 5 g SR R AR s T
RIBHRGW SR > NGB EA R
IR IEH) LHAE S -

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographical markets is disclosed in note 4(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no individual
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 and therefore the information about the remaining
performance obligation is not disclosed for contracts that have
an original expected duration of one year or less and also for
those performance obligations which are regarded as satisfied
as invoiced.

2019/20 % % T2
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The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following four reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

—  Sales of garments: the wholesale and retail of garments.

—  Licensing of trademarks: the management and licensing of
trademarks for royalty income.

—  Printing and related services: the provision of security printing
and sale of printed products.

—  Property rental: the leasing of properties to generate rental
income.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of deferred tax assets, trading securities,
current tax recoverable, cash and cash equivalents and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and contract liabilities, lease liabilities and bank
overdrafts with the exception of current tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit or loss is “adjusted
EBITDA”, i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and impairment loss on non-current assets”, where
“interest” is regarded as including investment income. To arrive
at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings/losses are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest
income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the
segments in their operations. Inter-segments sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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4 4y ) 4 Segment reporting (continued)

(a) SFEBEH - & EK A (H) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
BEZ-ZFR _F—LF=H Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
E=F—HIEFE AEBRE& BT provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
BN B A A B A 4 B 2@ the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
BB (DAL A A7 B IR 4 e M o B R performance for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 is set
BREAL) » FER R out below:

KAMREF ZIBA
Revenue from external customers
S A

Inter-segment revenue

CES Vi 1IN

Reportable segment revenue

BERABZOER) /%A
(BRI BB 97
05 0 AP 6 R

Reportable segment (loss)/profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

FERA

Interest income

FE

Interest expense

REFZHE

Depreciation for the year

ERIEN T A A
E#

Impairment loss on other property,
plant and equipment

HEWEN 2 W HER

Impairment loss on lease premium

VES P48 343

Reportable segment assets

KEEREFRAIBERE

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year

VES P8 § 1

Reportable segment liabilities

281,360 30,111 33,347 16,857 360,675

475 324 3,630 4,429

281,360 30,586 33,671 19,487 365,104

16,468

(67,974) (4,222) (61,682)

27 33 32 9

(9) (75)

(12,151) (13965)

(3,499)

398,688 123,079 22,199 282,217 826,183

11,029 21 217 11,327

451,823 22,045 3,646 1,863 479,377

e AEFHCR -F—NLENA —HBH K Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
B 7 B R A ) A 16 e I e 4 retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information
BB WE kT A® is not restated. See note 1(c).

G LA R o 2 B BT AL 55 1(c) JH -
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4 4 W s 4 Segment reporting (continued)
b) HEHRPIHUA - Bz BERA (b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets
15 = H AR and liabilities
2019
(Bt &%)
2020 (Note)
$°000 $°000
A Revenue
S T PN Reportable segment revenue 273,006 365,104
3 B A 2 8 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (3,188) (4,429)
A lA Consolidated revenue 269,818 360,675
O $1) /% A (Loss)/profit
AR WA 1R Reportable segment loss (23,448) (51,682)
S R Elimination of inter-segment profits (2,387) (2,809)
HEEBUINEF K HZE R Reportable segment loss derived from the
3 ¥ e 4 Group’s external customers (25,835) (54,491)
HoAth i 25 Other income 1,797 2,269
ik Depreciation (65,467) (13,965)
HAtwy % - W m Kkl 2 Impairment loss on other property, plant and
W {E e 4R equipment (43,199) (3,493)
HERSE M2 W EER Impairment loss on lease premium (5,685) _
a1 (B4R) /45 1% 48 Net valuation (osses)/gains on investment
- properties (35,242) 5,330
RiRE Ve <L/EX/ETREE: | Net gain on disposal of an investment property - 3,580
HERE AR T R Net gain on disposal of land and buildings held
I 45 1 A for own use - 44,753
H B R 2 ) i A Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary - 129,510
VEEAE o [ B B M A IR 78 W B & Reversal of provision for potential PRC customs
AR B A A 4 AR [ duties and indemnity liabilities and refund of
related distrained deposits 126,495 _
il A Finance costs (3,841) (75)
ANz BAT RAEER Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (16,151) (15,734)
BB Al 45 & Oks 12) 3 A Consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation (67,128) 07,684
j:g:3 Assets
TR G Reportable segment assets 886,689 826,183
3 THD Wi K 2 B Elimination of inter-segment receivables (353,525) (276,607)
) 533,164 549,576
i HiE Bl JE B Deferred tax assets 4,226 25607
FEHEM®BZ &S Trading securities 18,408 18,310
) A AR [u] I Current tax recoverable 706 214
B BB & FEY Cash and cash equivalents 153,496 321,901
KoBZ BAF R AEER Unallocated head office and corporate assets 15,132 4,377
BAMERE Consolidated total assets 725,132 919,085
i Liabilities
JH W A Reportable segment liabilities 497,126 479,377
G5 HlS T R A R AR Elimination of inter-segment payables (353,525) (276,607)
143,601 202,770
7 ) JE AR BT A Current tax payable 337 638
IEAEREAE Deferred tax liabilities 1,280 1,507
KoL 2 H w) BoA 36 A R Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 22,080 10,502
AR E Consolidated total liabilities 167,298 215,417

MEGE: AEECKR -F—LENA—HER
PR A o I A e U5 16 BRI 28 4
A REFTB W B ITE R > AE
I LR - 2B R ()

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information
is not restated. See note 1(c).
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4 Segment reporting (continued)

(¢) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and lease premium (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers
is based on the location at which the services were provided or
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of other property, plant and equipment and

lease premium, and the location to which they are managed, in
the case of intangible assets.

KEAMREFPBRA
Revenue from
external customers

¥ 5 Ik U B B
Specified
non-current assets

2019
(B 5%)
2020 2019 2020 (Note)
$°000 $'000 $°000 $°000
A Cil o) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 163,462 200,434 87,944 96,583
=B Taiwan 13,884 45,337 1,837 1,588

rf I At Other areas of the People’s

Republic of China (*PRC”) 60,104 74,918 14,231 6,486
x The United Kingdom 6,234 9,755 232,892 194,773
HoAt Others 26,134 30,231 102,202 108,034
106,356 160,241 351,162 310,881
269,818 360,675 439,106 407,464

Mt : AEBER T —LENH —HEHIK Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

PR 7 s 5 iV U5 16 R I R 4R
R RTIB WL TR T AE

G| G R« 2 B M RE A 1(c) JH -

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information
is not restated. See note 1(c).

5 Hfbk H & # 5 Other net loss
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
DL B A AHE 2 BB & % B Interest income on financial assets measured
A at amortised cost 2,552 2,473
ME 5, s 18 7% 7 Net exchange loss (8,434) (8,535)
WEEEEHEZE A I F4  Net gain on disposal of trading securities - 38
FEEMikz ke K# B Netunrealised gain on trading securities
Wi 5 5 AR 98 o8
e H Y 2 - BB R EEHEE £ Net loss on disposal of other property,
Z 18 A plant and equipment (852) (271)
oAt Others 3,358 2,341
(3,278) (8,926)

2019/20 % #% 7O
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6 B BLHT O #) 7 &% A
BRBEAT OB B C (A ¢

6 (Loss)/profit before taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2019
(B &E)
2020 (Note)
$000 $000
@ A& A (@  Finance costs
AT IAE X Interest expense on bank overdrafts 126 75
L& B AR B (M R4 17(0) 1H) Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) 3,715 _
3,841 75
b) B LA~ (b)  Staff costs*
FE A FOR PR F1 B Contributions to defined contribution
Z kK retirement plans 9,292 10,192
Fa o TG & H AR Salaries, wages and other benefits 101,776 114,389
111,068 124,581
© HiwEH ©) Otheritems
BHE Auditors’ remuneration
— Bk B ~ audit services
— 5 IG Er R g - KPMG 1,800 1,899
— F At A% B R - other auditors 645 634
— B IR B - tax services 204 324
— HoAl e # - other services 64 152
2,713 3,009
BAEBGTHERSETR S B S Total minimum lease payments for leases
mEMEZHEER previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS17*# - 109,619
A e AKH B A R T R A Variable lease payments not included in the
2 H measurement of lease liabilities 6,961 9,340
o8 % A (GRS 11(0) 1) Depreciation charge* (note 11(a))
— AN B Rk - owned property, plant and equipment* 10,038 13,965
— - right-of-use assets" 55,429 _
HAt 2 WE Kkt 2 WE KR Impairment loss on other property, plant and
(B 55 55 11(0) JH) equipment (note 11(a))
— WA WY R E Kok e — owned property, plant and equipment 6,166 3.493
— I ~ right-of-use assets 37,033 -
TR 2 (B s 18 (B3 55 130H) Impairment loss on lease premium (note 13) 5,685 _
JRE SR 2 (L A (R 585 26 (a) ) Impairment loss on trade debtors (note 25(z)) 5,039 872
Wi B T 2 (s 9 I Reversal of impairment loss on trade
(Bt 3% 55 25(a) JH) debtors (note 25(a)) (3,413) (5,804)
I 35 £ R 488 4 (B 5% 55 23 1H) Provision for onerous contracts (note 23) - 10,600
BEE W) 3 T iR 5 el B Rentals receivable from investment
3 11,964,000 7C properties less direct outgoings of
(=% — JL4 © 2,067,0007E) $1,964,000 (2019: $2,067,000) (6,786) (13.790)
7 8 B A (B 55 55 15(0) TH) Cost of inventories* (note 15(0)) 124,330 117,837
Mt : AEBWMOR -F—LFEWA —HERREAEF Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

T BB R A e U 5 16 B I 25 4% 6 RSB R R
Wik AU TT T > AN TS R o 2 B
G 10T
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retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not

restated. See note 1(c).
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B B wi O #) 7 % M (80
B BT (B WRIE MBS (FEA) -

(#41)

FERNAUHEHE TRA LA LEEHE
# F A B 2 10,091,000 7T ( — % — JL4F : 11,678,000
J6) o A B B IR B RS A B 3 B T 5 6(b) JE 4
SR 2 45 R T R o

A% TR 000 R AR W o R ME A s S R
e 695G AR T — JLEH — A2
B &5 R > DA S A AR IR W G S A ST 5
T SRR 8% 2 TR O W AR A HE K o W) AP ERR R
SR JUE A - B R R A AR IR
K 7R RN 7 e SR 8 P ME O O o T IR R BB i
BORMR M N RS ERAEHEH TEEL
FH 4 B S o ARG UL 5 > Hb R NI 4 E 5 o 22 B
Bt 55 45 1(c) JH ©

B A 2R RS 2 P 1 B

(a) #FfriRaE KPP Z BEIH 75

6 (Loss)/profit before taxation (continued)

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(continued)

* Cost of inventories includes $10,091,000 (2019: $11,678,000) relating to staff costs,
depreciation and lease expenses, which amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above or in note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

# The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach
and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets
relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not
restated. See note 1(c).

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
AW B — F BB Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
A B A Provision for the year 1,308 1,206
PAFEAEFER 2/ CGRR)) 438 f Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 212 (101)
1,520 1,195
AR BLIE — 7 U DA A M Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
A 13t A Provision for the year 12 846
DAEEAERER L/ R 155 Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 4 (48)
16 798
B 9 B Deferred tax
AR R ] T IR L Origination and reversal of temporary differences 20,856 4,609
22,392 6,602

SRR B s A B ot
e A AF BE Al F I R B R A 9 16.5%
(ZF — L 1 16.5%) wt 7 -

EERERY N L /A R R
AR B B R B 2 BAT B R

A A T AR A T AE 0 I SE S A SE B R
F520% (% —JU4F 1 20%) °

TE A B B3k T - A0 B O R
i 1% B & BB 10% AN B o SR T
JH B 10% TH 41 BL B9 BB - 1 Ay A
B & FNE— A — F R B
i A A e S o il b B AN BB
e A w3 HE e T A B R ok
JU AT % R 0 B R OB o AR BB
BB TR R KR A
A5 1 7H 9 A 4R B A v R B 2 R BT
ST AT ] 1% B 4% 5% 1Y TE 1B % 4
(REE{EA

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 is calculated
at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries based outside Hong Kong is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in
the United Kingdom is 20% (2019: 20%) for the year.

Under the tax law of the PRC, a 10% withholding tax shall be
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries, however, only the dividends attributable to the
profits of the financial period starting from 1 January 2008 will
be subject to withholding tax. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement between the PRC
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investor. Pursuant to a double
tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong, the Group
is subject to a withholding tax at a rate of 5% for any dividend
payments from its PRC subsidiaries.

2019/20 % % T8
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7 BEASBEEMMWZPL B (8) 7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
pl‘Ofit or loss (continued)

(b) FFi3mE sk o g at (B 1R) i A 1% (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at
7 JH B R G R applicable tax rates:
2020 2019
$°000 $000
W BiHT k5 18) ik (Loss)/profit before taxation (67,128) 97,684
iz U8 A A B B A 2 WA Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation,
BORFH ARBTG5 8) /i A calculated at the rates applicable in the
24 ERIE countries concerned (15,828) 05,347
AN AT 41K B 32 2 B 1 5 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7,706 6,636
FEFRBL U A 2 B T 5 2 Tax effect of non-taxable income (21,462) (43,528)
RHERR 2 R B BIE B ME K Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
PEaE B 7 B 2 temporary differences not recognised 31,006 13,175
DL 4 R W 58 2 K B B 3 Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
Jhes 80 T IR M 25 L R AR R temporary differences not recognised in prior
T 2 B year but utilised during the year (57) (52)
KALTEFRERI T MR M BIIE B Derecognition of deferred tax arising from tax
T E A 2 9 HE B IH losses 20,811 5173
DR E 2 AR/ GRF) B Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years 216 (149)
BB IE B L Actual tax expense 22392 6,602
8 WM& 8 Directors’ emoluments
AR5 B v O mlBRA9)) 55 383 (1) e e (2w (¢ Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
5 B M) a8 RH) R0 5 258 2 L T B Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
R EFM ST (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:
Fid o MR B
LR E 3¢
Salaries, T % 16 4L Retirement
WL allowances and  Discretionary scheme H5t
Directors’ fees  benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

#17# %  Executive directors

Bl 7k 5 Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 60 60 | 1,22 1,122 11 126 - -1 1,198 1,308
JABE;  Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 60 60 « 1,944 1,964 21 219 = - 2,025 2243
K & Fu Sing Yam, William 60 60 = 2,130 2,120 18 223 90 90 « 2,298 2,493
PR A Chan Andrew 60 60 | 1,440 1,430 26 162 60 60 = 1,586 1,712
Wik 2= Chan Wing Fui, Peter 60 60 - _ - _ _ _ 60 60
it 7 AL Chan Wing Kee 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
o 75 T Chan Wing To* 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
3k JE# AT Independent non-executive
#F directors
WEF: LinKeping’ 150 150 - - s - - - 1
HER Choi Ting Ki 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150
R So Stephen Hon Cheung 150 150 - _ - _ - _ 150 150
kM Li Guangming 110 110 = - = - = - 110 110
980 980 6,636 6,636 76 730 150 150 = 7,842 8,496
* §L7K§;;ﬁ AR TR TR A N H BHAE A A A * Mr. Chan Wing To has resigned an executive director of the Company on 16 April 2020.
o AT
PR SRR Y R R H BN H BT A A # Mr. Lin Keping has resigned an independent non-executive director of the Company on
N7 JE BT R 16 April 2020.
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BEME AL 9 Individuals with highest emoluments
EHEMMEREm2Z ALd W% Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2019: four)
—JUAE ) 25 FE S A B RIS R are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
MG EeTE . i B & EAE =N emoluments of the other individual for the year ended 31 March 2020
= H I E AR are as follows:
2020 2019
$000 $'000
Wi B F At T Salaries and other emoluments 1,833 1,883
9 7€ AE AL Discretionary bonuses 282 311
FERI N R e Retirement scheme contributions - _
2,115 2,194
ik (E®R) BN 10 (Loss)/earnings per share
(a) TFRFEAR (EH), 8 F (a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

(b)

AR (B 38) 7 &R R i IR AR
R 2 RN E)RE s RE R RE AL RS 1B
87,125,0007% (& — JL4F : 90,189,000
gt & A ) K& BB AT % W O AT B
165,864,000 f% ( — F — Ju 4
165,864,000 %) 51 & -

TF R 4 (s 1) % F

WE X _FERLF-NFE=A
=t - HIEFEE AR ER
AT A BE 0 s B
e FE A (g 12) 7 L 1) B4 J 48 o s
) /BRI

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $87,125,000 (2019: profit of $90,189,000) and 165,864,000
(2019: 165,864,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. Accordingly, the diluted
(loss)/earnings per share is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings
per share.

2019/20 % % 80
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11 BEWERLMLYE - WEFE 11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B w5 and equipment
(a) HEH1E 2 #HHR (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
AN HALEHE AR
ER )3 £ EEE S oY
FiA RS (A 5] lk) I8 B it i
Ownership Other Leasehold
interests in properties B %  improvements,
landand leased for own #%  motor vehicles, BENE
buildingsheld  usecarriedat  Plantand furniture and At Investment it
for own use cost  machinery equipment  Sub-total  properties Total
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
B A A - Cost or valuation:
REZ—FEIA—H At1 April 2018 42,390 - 16457 63273 122,120 381580 503,700
B Exchange adjustments - - 0 (1374 (1379 (18287) (14613
7‘ B Additions - - 4 138 11327 R L
& Disposals B (10,737) - @ (6594 (17,339 (7,300 (24,639)
ﬁ? HEBEYE (I %2878) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 28) - - - - - (88,200) (88,200)
ARERE Fair value adjustment - - - - - 5,330 5,330
WEF—NE==+—H  At31March2019 31883 - 16455 66628 114736 278173 392,909
fk: Representing:
ﬁWE . Cost ) 31,653 - 16,455 66,628 114,736 - 114,736
WHE-—F—-N0E Valuation - 2019 - - - - - 278,178 278,173
31,653 - 16,455 66,628 114,736 278,173 392,909
EA:%‘: UWEZRA=+—H  At31March2019 31,653 - 16,455 66,628 114,736 278,173 392,909
HURA Bk It 1%#&‘* ) Impact on initial application of
i1 65}}2!3’] 12 1 HKFRS 16 (note) - 88,643 - 844 80,487 13,413 102,900
RE%—JEm A — E At 1 April 201‘9 31,653 88,643 16,455 67,472 204,223 291,586 495,809
3¢ aﬂ B Exchange adjustments - (836) - 611) (1,447) (13,232) (14,679)
AE-HEBT Adjustments - lease modifications - (2,462) - - (2,462) - (2,462)
hE Additions - 61,815 3,754 9,506 75,075 - 75,075
= Dlgposals ' - (32) (148) (20,313) (20,493) - (20,493)
ARERE Falr value adjustment _ _ - - _ (35,242) (35,242)
REEREZAZH—H ASI March 200 3153 147128 2001 56054 254896 243112 498,008
R % Representing:
Cost ) 31,658 147,128 20,061 56,054 254,896 - 254,896
ﬁq{a CECRE Valuation - 2020 _ - - - - 243112 243,112
31,653 147,128 20,061 56,054 254,896 243,112 498,008
Bitvid Accumulated depreciation:
REE— ML — A At 1 Aprl 2018 27,275 - 15,510 45,788 88,573 - 88,573
HE 5 38 2 Exchange adjustments - - ) (953) (955) _ (955)
AEENRE Charge for the yeer 1424 - 256 12,285 18,965 - 13,965
Bk R Impairment loss - - - 3,493 3,493 - 3,493
i Written back on disposals (5,490) - Y (6,325) (11,817) - (11,817)
Z-UFE=ZA=+—H  At31March2019 W29 - 15762 54288 93259 - 93050
REEF-AEZA=Z+—H  At31 March 2019 23,209 - 15,762 54,288 93,259 - 93,259
] U’(}“zr( Wk ﬁ?f 1%1&-* Eﬁ Impact on initial application of
FACHE I A (W5 HKFRS 16 (note) - 10,600 - - 10,600 - 10,600
R-%— ﬁﬁl A—H At April 2019 23,209 10,600 15,762 54,283 103,859 - 108,859
[EE 58, 34 % Exchange adjustments - (154) - (386) (540) - (540)
AEERE Charge for the year 1,230 52967 1,254 10016 65467 - 85467
HEER Impairment loss - 37,033 - 6166 43,199 - 43199
B Written back on disposals - (32) (117) (19,492 (19,641) - (19,641)
WEEZZE=H=+—H  At31March2020 2443 100414 16899 50502 19234 - 192344
ﬂﬁiﬁﬁfﬁ Net book value:
REFZFFZA=1T—H  At31 March 2020 7214 46,714 3,162 5,462 62552 243112 305,664
REZF-NFE=ZA=+—H  At31March 2019 8,444 - 693 12,340 21,477 278,178 299,650

B 5T A B e P A8 18 0 ) (i R/ R Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
B HE RSB R - R S — LR approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
VLI H — H #0045 Bk DA S AR i right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
O 51 IS5 17 95 00 1 2 AR s L] E"J operating leases under HKAS 17. See note 1(c).
*EEEEE Ui I RE e - 2 BB £sﬁ1(c) i)
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11 eEWEREMLHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(a) R 2 ¥R (4)

()

98 (6L s 1R

BE-F FEHA=+—HILEEF
O AR A B G A WE ' s
TR A S [ T I 2 Hopb i 2
W B HEA T IR (A A o ARPEREAL
A BR LA 2 W R R A
{H 518 5 43,199,000 78 ( & — JL4E
3,493,00070) » Wit &7 AR aE AR -
HoAfth Wy 2~ ik B KRk A A R i Il 4
BIIMBABRETENERNAREE
P 5 S AT RRCBE 6 TR AL B4R ) E A
st R KRB &R ERE FEM
WM EEREHEANTBERE
13.52% (. F — JL4F : 12.79%) » 1 E
14 2B 1 O 28 R 1 T B AR 15 14.06% (—
E— LA ) o

RE YK ARG R
(ORI

TREJNAEBRMBEYRZ A
FAE > W E A Y R R
R A% KE W e R e TR 00 0 B
oy 5 U e R A8
S E FFE TR E 2 /A R E
B o A U EFH RS 2
M2 F WM T AE T B
i A BOPE 2 B R A
R E -

— AN (E R —
Aok A BB (B0 51 & H [
FHOE BB R I BT
ORI W) G R A
RE

— B RS E R
iy A BOPR (BP R fE 2 21 58 —
B WL A IO\ BB KOR
A RO T LR RO
PR Z N AE e AT B
G DEECEIS- G RTRN
(P §

— =AM E B ERA
ABERER RN E

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of carry amount (continued)

Impairment loss

During the year ended 31 March 2020, management performed
an impairment assessment on certain other property, plant and
equipment of the Group’s retail stores in accordance with the
accounting policy on impairment of assets. Based on the
assessment, an impairment loss of $43,199,000 (2019:
$3,493,000) was recognised in respect of the respective other
property, plant and equipment and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The recoverable amounts of these
other property, plant and equipment were determined based on
the estimated future cash flows generated from these retail stores
for the remaining non-cancellable lease term of the respective
retail stores at a discount rate of 13.52% (2019: 12.79%),) for retail
stores in Hong Kong and Macau and 14.06% (2019: Nil) for retail
stores in the PRC.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1inputsi.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

—  Level 3valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

2019/20 % # 82
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11 eEWEREMBYE - WG
Bk 6 (m)

(b) #EYWELLRMEGFE (H) (b) Fair value measurement of investiment properties (continued)
() A SAEHHE () 0]

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

) e et i 2 R-Z-RE=ZA=1+—HK
=ZH=+—H B RALGH RS B2 5K
WA fofli Fair value measurements
Fair value at as at 31 March 2020 categorised into
31 March B g W=
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$°000 $°000 $’000 $°000
RN PE X HE S Recurring fair value
25 i measurement
T - F/i Industrial — Hong Kong 76.800 _ _ 76,800
P — L Commercial
— The United Kingdom 166,312 _ _ 166,312
243,112 - - 243,112
)P Sy S R-ZB—N4E=ZH=1—HW
=Z=H=+—H AR RSB LR
A Rl Fair value measurements
Fair value at @S at 31 March 2019 categorised into
31 March B B W=
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
BRI EHRE Recurring fair value
Z A i measurement
T — Fi Industrial - Hong Kong 83,400 _ _ 83,400
[HlE 8 Commercial
— The United Kingdom 194,773 _ _ 194,773
278,173 - - 278,173

WEE _F _FE=H=+—
H ook 4 B A58 — SR B S8 — 41
AR RS A NE
WS =R (CE— U E) -
A K B B R R E AR R
oAk I AT RR N R (E SR 2
B RS o

ALEMABREYER -F
FHEEZH=FT—HEHMME-
i 16 o 78 32 B R S 5 BT g
BRBR AV Al 3K G0 A R FEAT
o~ T BT A i R R A e
ER G HAEMEAREMN
W) 3% st B B BRI G A 0 A B e
RGO AR LR R e R
o5 309 0 A Al (L M1 e A R o
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2019: Nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 March 2020. The valuations were carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors, Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), who have among their staff
Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of properties being
valued. The management have discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations were performed at the end of each reporting
period.
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11 BEWERLMLYWE - WEFE 11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B wk g () and equipment (continued)
(b) BE Y ¥ LN RA G () (b)  Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)
() FEE =S REF =N ER (i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
A ) BLg
A5 4 e ol WA S s WE R Y
Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
T Industrial i 355 LG A (A 2k WEER (8)% to 5% 0%
—##  -HongKong Market comparison (frege) /w8 (2019:(10)% (2019: 0%)
approach  (Discount)/premium to 10%)
on quality of
the properties
#i3  Commercial i 357 B B £ {1 o WEEE  0%to10% (7.5)%
— R — The United Kingdom Market comparison () /i (2019:0%  (2019: 7.5%)
approach  (Discount)/premium to 15%)
on quality of
the properties
PR AFE R BN ENEZ The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong
DI =D R BN T (S and the United Kingdom are determined on an open market
O B M AT S E value basis, by making reference to the comparable sale
(B A HE T 7 E o transactions evidence in the relevant locality.
A T B bE A (B3 (Y The premium or discount used in market comparison
8 sk T 5 > T R E A BT approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
FERER ) TN R T g sale transactions. Higher premium for higher quality buildings
WIS AR RE will result in a higher fair value measurement.
kTt
G W WS AR R A Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised
B REYEAME EHR) in the line item “Net valuation (losses)/gains on investment
Wi i VR R TE R RERR AR o properties” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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11 ¥ ERILMBYE - BE

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B kg () and equipment (continued)
(c) 1 HEEE (¢c) Right-of-use assets
iz A1 BE A A F) 4y 2 i ME A The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
MR FE AT - class of underlying asset is as follows:
R R ZE—LAF
EVHIESEE WwH—H
f3E 31 March 2020 1 April 2019
Note $°000 $°000
PEEEFEAR 2 & Ownership interests in leasehold land and
T A R 5 4 BT buildings held for own use, carried at
A R FTHEMA  depreciated cost in Hong Kong, with
THEERTFEZRN remaining lease term between 10 and
50 years 0) 7,214 8,444
Hh g AR EWE I EE Other properties leased for own use, carried at
WA G R depreciated cost (i 46,714 78,043
g = ot ts s feir#E A< Plant and machinery, carried at depreciated
51| Hz cost (ii) 2,517 _
M0 B % - 3P B4R Furniture and equipments, carried at
51l i depreciated cost (i) 619 844
57,064 87,331
BEARZHEREWZE  Ownership interests in leasehold investment
WARMEH .t FHE properties, carried at fair value, with
LD remaining lease term of: (iv)
Sl {1 B i - 50 years or more 166,312 208,186
- TEELTFEZA - between 10 and 50 years 76,300 83,400
» 243,112 291,586
300,176 378,917

T 4 R T RE 2 T B AR B B SR
H 8 (03 B 30 2 e i F

The analysis of expense items or (reduction of expenses) in
relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:
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2019
(Bt 58)
2020 (Note)
$°000 $°000
i FAREE 85 LU E /0 88 - Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset:
Frfe g 2z o pep s Ownership interests in leasehold land and
Jir A7 REHE 42 buildings 1,230 1,424
HAw g M &Y Other properties leased for own use 52,967 _
75 Be W Plant and machinery 1,007 _
5 A8, B 3% Al Furniture and equipment 205 _
55,429 1,424
fH 6 & fEF) B (K345 6()J8)  Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 3,715 _
Bl 19 FH 5 K% A FH % 9 % FH Expense relating to short-term leases and
B FE _FE=H=1—  otherleases with remaining lease term
H 3 AR FL EA B R ending on or before 31 March 2020
P 3¢ 30,505 -
i 1E AR P G e B 5 ME HID 28 17 Total minimum lease payments for leases
WA B REHE 2 RkIKE  previously classified as operating leases
SEAH B AT A under HKAS 17 - 109,619
Al 5 FH S AT B (S LG A FL . Variable lease payments not included in the
AR R measurement of lease liabilities 6,961 9,340
L 48 B Rent concessions (5,458) _
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11 eEWEREMLHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(c) 581 #E & 5 (47)

BT A S AR A5 O BT Ik R RE T A U

IS i 5 v RIS A6 R I E — U4

PO A — H 8 % 00 &5 6k DL o AR 8

&ﬁ#@m%v%%@%%%mhmm
PR MR E . N F — JLAE I A
A T w20 P ME W AR AR SR AR
7 TE 52 8 ) RE 4 E T R T#
M%Wﬁ%%m& 7 e R
EEF$LE$%i m%%
R AN T E 5o 2 Bk

1

T
=S

I | W

%%H*%Eﬁ
bt

=

=

o
s
B
EE -

o

BE_ZTF=H=1+—HILFE
fifi Ji] HE % 7 4% 11 65,339,000 7T © #% 4
FEEERE RS REMNNE
AL T A 3KA B e

HEMBR SR BAELHEARBW
@@Hﬁﬁ?ﬁ“%ﬁﬂﬂ%a
17(d) % 2018

O  FEA R L KT A R
HE 25

A B B P B A E R BT AE
HoFR A — T DAL
BRI S5 i o A4 W) 3K
HE A (B 45 42 30 200 00 A BE 20 )
ER B H b ) BB TOHEA A -
I6] 2 Al & FC A A B
EREGE 2 RIET AT Brm
A B BORF HE H 2 i Al (E 5
ST ERCIE AL AT T AR R
L& 5 [7] 5 245 B SO Y 2 -
A T T R 25 il (e R
9 3K T AT T B I R] 2l A

iy HbpmRAHEYwE

AL O AR R S
JH At Wy S A 2y 4 T
W =B RER o LB — B
G F:l R S

WE_FT T =A==+ —H
1 4F B AL BT 2 WS
I B LR AR R R

?EZ%E&Ii%ﬁﬁfﬁ
Eﬁ M SE 2 W] 5 A B AL

Wmo&#ﬁ AR O A 4R

@ @%TW%% T & R

RS A

W? i M a8 1 [ 5E KAl 2 A 1
(e R

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets
at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation
of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
See note 1(c).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to right-of-use
assets were $65,339,000. This amount primarily related to the
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 20 respectively.

(i)  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

The Group holds an industrial building in Hong Kong for its
printing business, where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered owner of the
property interests, including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land lease,
other than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authority. These payments vary from
time to time and are payable to the relevant government
authority.

(i)  Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its retail stores and offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group leased a
number of retail stores which contain variable lease payment
terms that are based on sales generated from the retail stores
and minimum annual lease payment terms that are fixed.
These payment terms are common in retail stores in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Macau where the Group operates. The
amount of fixed and variable lease payments recognised in
profit or loss for the year is summarised below:

WA AE sk W8 A BB K

Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
$°000 $°000 $°000
TEME — & Retail stores — Hong Kong, PRC
B B R P and Macau 56,072 6,261 62,333

2019720 % #& 86



Wi $it 3R B s

Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F > 2 LIt o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

11 BeEWEREMLHE - WG
Bk 6 ()

(c) & JH & 5 (%)
(i) A FH &

A S B B e =
A A0 AR B e — = AR A E
ia SRR B AL AT A AL A

(iv) FH B B W 3 00 B A E R 4

E S Bl o o o )
Z R T30 w3 DL
WA B /o 7 G A (o

BEY - FE

A B 1 ) SR R (f 35 2B R
T 4 AN BE 43 B0 Ay 0 e i)
M8 FEHEA A o 1) 2 BB R R
A NEEAF B ¥R 2 A
B AT BRI A B BN R
4 26 B Al (E 5T 500 BKCE A > i
S AT o] AR BE B G ] 2 R 4
A I G o AT B K JE AT T b
Fi: ] g 48 o

BOEY 3 —

ACSE T 25 W) SR A ) RO
Az 78 A AH B A B R R A A
LA B ) 2 TR T A A i
5 FH B o A BT BE o T 2 I
FRCHEA NI ACH B Y R 4
Z IR E KESAT o A B Y
A EHS A 1264 Kb g
TR E AWM SR A Z AT
5 FH B AF M Ak T A AR AR
B AT M R [ 2 - S B
FAOFHE I — IR DL e T i 4 -

WEF FEZA=+ N
IE 45+ i 2 L0 09 I 5 % T
S L 3 BUMEE I

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

Other leases

The Group leases plant and machinery and office equipment
under leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. None of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

Ownership interests in leasehold investment properties

The Group holds several industrial and commercial properties
in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom, respective, to earn
rental income and/or capital appreciation.

Investment properties — Hong Kong

The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided share in the
underlying land. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire these property interests from their previous
registered owners, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease, other than
payments based on rateable value set by the relevant
government authority. These payments vary from time to
time.

Investment properties — United Kingdom

The Group is the registered owner of these property interests
and obtained the right of use of the underlying land through
head lease signed between the freeholder of the underlying
land and the Group. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the property interests from the previous registered
owner. The head lease of the underlying land runs for an
initial period of 125 years and contain variable lease payment
terms that are based on rental income generated from
subleases and minimum annual lease payment term are
fixed and increased every 10 years to reflect market rentals.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the amount of fixed
and variable lease payments under the head lease is
summarised below:

Bl Ak S A Ak B8 A %
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
$°000 $°000 $°000
HEWHE Investment properties
— B[ — United Kingdom 777 700 1,477
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11 eEWEREMLHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(d) REBREGYEZFHHMT :

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(d)

Details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

b HuiJi%  AL# Location Existing use Term of lease
JUHE T % B Ak 4 5% WEANE i UnitB, C, D, GandH on 7/ and Offices, Medium-term
e I T 3 K L 7 4 T % Car Parking Space No. 8 on 1/F, factories lease
B-C D GKHE Ha Wah Shun Industrial Building, and
1 #9585 45 B AL 4 Cho Yuen Street, Yau Tong, warehouses
Kowloon
JURE B i 15 7 28 9% T 1 Unit Nos. 1 and 2 on 8/F, Factories Medium-term
P NN Lee Sum Factory Building, lease
81 2= 28 Ng Fong Street, Kowloon
Nos. 42-43 Great e E £ Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Offices and Long-term
Marlborough Street, P&y Street, London W1V, restaurants lease
London W1V, The United Kingdom
The United Kingdom
(e) LMEMEMMIMBEYH (e) Investment properties leased out under operating leases
AEMUKSHEMRBREYE The Group leases out investment properties under operating
M — e —2 1+ HE leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 25 years,
HA RSB R T R A with an option to renew the leases at which time all terms are
AEREE FEKEHMEN ARG renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.
5 A7 5 ) A0 B AT 3K e
A% S AR 8 R NI R 2 A8 A Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
oA B R AR i I I KR leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
BT Group in future periods as follows:
2020 2019
$000 $'000
— AR Within 1 year 5,510 7,696
—EZ AN After 1 year but within 2 years 4,215 4,527
A& H =4 R After 2 years but within 3 years 4,215 4,527
AR R AR N After 3 years but within 4 years 4,226 4,527
MY 4F AR H 1A N After 4 years but within 5 years 4,215 4,539
HAEE After 5 years 19,054 24,991
41,435 50,807
H HEREWFE (f) Disposal of an investment property
W oE U =H =+ —H IR During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group disposed of
AL | 2 o {E 4% 7,300,000 an investment property in Hong Kong with fair value of $7,300,000
T EBEREWERN RER at a consideration of $10,880,000, resulting in a net gain on
10,880,000 7 » Hh & L % §F B & disposal of $3,580,000.
3,580,000 7T °
(g) HERFMEHHLHRMESE (g) Disposal of land and buildings held for own use

AE-NEZA =+ —HIRERE
A 42 8 | — R R TG M /% 5,247,000
pr:ORU SR (SN NEOR Y/ R VAR AV
18 £ 50,000,000 7C > B i 55 V5 RH A
44,753,000 7€ °

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group disposed of a
property held for own use in Macau with net book value of
$5,247,000 at a consideration of $50,000,000, resulting in a net
gain on disposal of $44,753,000.
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2 B H A

12 Intangible assets

Guy Laroche trademark
Ashworth trademark

%@uﬁiﬁfmmmm%mﬁﬂﬁ
sw%amE’W%ﬁ%MmmmMﬁﬁ
1) 7R AL o

[Guy Laroche | I T Ashworth J 7 12 4 # &
AT 4HE R A 5 P AR BE R RE S 1(h) TE 2 &
FH R AR -

(a) JEE RG] R JH 48 05 45 9] i 6 0k e 00 sl

[ Guy Laroche ] #1 [ Ashworth ] i 1 43 Bl
M€ ] Ji~ T Guy Laroche | il [ Ashworth |
RERET > ol B AL ak Al e

[ Guy Laroche ] fil [ Ashworth | 7§ A5 (1) 7T
Wi [B] 4 %8 % 4y 0l ¥ HL O ol
JAS DLAG BB A A R e ﬁiﬁ,ﬁ;ﬁ
fﬁzfﬁibm@ﬁﬁ7i<7\i“§$fﬁ%‘?

Rl B 5 265 12(b) TE) - %@Fi*?1ﬁu§
HAERAFETR F FEF=H
=+ — H WA ME - A R fE i H B
WA eI SE135E [ 2 E 7= ] (2
B B 5 56 11 (o) (i) JH) BT A 2 = 2
W AR AN (E 7 BT A BB
i oE B A = A o

EIEEIPALF.'V [/J\nfiﬁit#ﬂijq&
] <5 BH A4 5 2 AR Sk WA AT A G BE AT
HE 5% 8 AN & A BUIR E (R D8 AT
Wi 1 4 o

(b) F i 5 =4 A A AR
EETE/REBRB R E Tk £

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
102,050 102,050
31,392 -
133,442 102,050

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group acquired the
trademark of Ashworth at a cash consideration of US$4,000,000
(equivalent to $31,392,000).

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademarks are considered to have
indefinite useful lives and are accounted for in accordance with
accounting policy note 1(h).

(a) Impairment tests for trademarks with an indefinite useful economic
life
Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademarks service Guy Laroche and

Ashworth worldwide operations respectively and are separately
identifiable.

The recoverable amounts of Guy Laroche and Ashworth
trademarks are based on their respective fair value less costs of
disposal, estimated using discounted cash flows method. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using terminal
growth rates (see note 12(b)). The valuations as at 31 March 2020
were carried out by Ravia. Their fair values fall within Level 3 of
the three-level hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement (see note 11(b)(i)), based on the inputs in the
valuation technique used.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the
key assumptions on which the recoverable amount measurement
is based would not cause the carrying amount to exceed their
recoverable amounts.

(b) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement:

The valuation technique is discounted cash flows method. The

TR A B EE T major unobservable inputs are as follows:
2020 2019

[ Guy [Guy
Laroche| [Ashworthl Laroche] [Ashworth]
Wi B i B 7 1 [k
Guy Laroche Ashworth Guy Laroche Ashworth
trademark trademark trademark trademark
A6 I B ] A B B R Risk-adjusted discount rate | 13% 14% 109 N/A
KA = 2 Terminal growth rate | 39% 39% 0% N/A
TH w1 5F RE B 1 R R Expected royalty charge rate | 8% 5% 8% N/A

LR AR R A R B R LT IS 8k
EZ EAME K AMERREFE
A HE 2238 = & - T 2 46 L B o B
S BB T o R T 8 TR 2 A B R
B REF 29 B A
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Management determined the terminal growth rate and expected
royalty charge rate based on past performance and its expectation
on market development. The risk-adjusted discount rate used is
the risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital of the licensing
industry.
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G HE 2T A6 — [H] W 2 A 2 A i
— P W 3 2 R T S AT 2 BOURE < A %
W 2~ B R AL % 3 - JUA R S AR
BEHLETT —MHE% - Bt 8
B R B A R AT AR AR N
Sl AR 5% B T 56 1 () TH 2 & REBOR - 7R
ICRCRIEN i EIN

WEZERE A = —H > EE %
BOE F AR SN A L JE R R AT A
A B R B NI B AE R B M 2 mT R
KB RBEHME > e T T F =
A=+t —HIEFE [ H A& s %A
Tl 58 A M 1) 96k (B 15 48 7% 5,685,000 7€ °

B FE-NEZH = AR
T IR o R W A S DL AT
BeB &M  HEEE KL R
{0 J8 T 7 s B 5 i o YE R BS54
(7t T e 2 =8 el 2 2 5 =
J& (2 B B 50 11 () () FE) - 4% A6 B 77 ¥ BT
M ABEH - W2 - F - LFE=A
= BRI MR R AR o

EETEMEHBEERETE  TEA
R -E-3 €/ 3 INE

13 AL &% HE & W 13 Lease premium
2020 2019
$000 $'000
JRA : Cost:
A4 At the beginning of the year 8,360 9,215
[ 53, 3 #& Exchange adjustments (238) (855)
R At the end of the year 8,122 8,360
Bl WA 1 Accumulated impairment losses:
) At the beginning of the year 2,596 2,861
[fE b4, 5 & Exchange adjustments (159) (265)
VRIEN 2R Impairment loss 5,685 -
R At the end of the year 8,122 2,596
JUG i 3 1 - Net book value:
R At the end of the year - 5,764

Lease premium represents an amount paid by a subsidiary to obtain
the right to lease a property in France. In the event that the subsidiary
vacates the property, the subsidiary would be entitled to sell the right
to the lease to the next tenant. Accordingly, the lease premium is
considered to have an indefinite useful economic life and is carried at
cost less impairment loss in accordance with accounting policy note
1(h).

As at 31 March 2020, the management did not intend to renew the
underlying lease upon the expiry of the lease term in June 2020 and
an impairment loss of $5,685,000 was recognised in “other operating
expenses” during the year ended 31 March 2020 in view of the
unlikelihood in securing a new tenant before the expiry of the lease
term.

At 31 March 2019, the recoverable amount was based on fair value
less costs of disposal, estimated using discounted cash flows. The fair
value of lease premium fell within Level 3 of the three-level hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement (see note 11(b)(i),
based on the inputs in the valuation technique use. No impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The valuation technique was discounted cash flows method. The major
unobservable inputs were as follows:

2019
£2 JE B o R B R Risk-adjusted discount rate 4%
TE 5T 5 4 1 R R Expected market rental growth rate 0%

BEHERBEBERE AL NG ERE L
UM EHMMHHEMER - THZ
A8 T\ B A R G B A R R T 8 T 2 K
JeE B ) 0 - B A

Management determined the expected market rental growth rate based
on past performance and its expectations on market development.
The risk-adjusted discount rate used was the risk-adjusted weighted
average cost of capital of the leasing industry.
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4 EEHEHNBZ &R 14 Trading securities
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
AR AR A5 DL RS T E Financial assets measured at FVPL: ‘
&Rl E
FUs DIANE S T8 ok BT Unlisted units in money market funds outside ‘
4 W07 Hong Kong | 18,408 18,310
15 # &8 15 Inventories
(a) 6 HBEMRBELENZFEE BT : (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise:
2020 2019
$°000 $000
R R} Raw materials | 3,729 3,492
TE R Work in progress | 805 554
SR Finished goods ! 55,264 75,654
| 50,798 79,700
(b) TERFFEZNW G AH#WNGFEEH (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
AT - and included in profit or loss is as follows:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
EEFBEZETHE Carrying amount of inventories sold | 96,745 125,450
17 B O Write-down of inventories | 35,792 559
FE B 0 58 [ Reversal of write-down of inventories ! (8,207) (8,172)
| 124,330 117,837
% 0] o8 1 AR B AR ) 2 A B O TS W The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
B T 1) 2 ek S T S | BRI T due to an increase in the estimated realisable value of certain
w5 (A 1 o garments as a result of a change in consumer preferences.
16 JE W W& A% K 3 fb B WK K 16 Trade and other receivables
2020 2019
$000 $000
JRE Wi H K Trade debtors 26,827 33,743
W B Less: Loss allowance (9,423) (8,053)
17,404 25,690
Fe 4~ FEAT BB H Al B I 3K Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 22,029 24,663
39,433 50,353
I HAth JE Wi 3K £ 2,403,000 00 (=& — JUAE All of the Group’s trade and other receivables, apart from other
2,696,000 70) 4k » 4 4 [ Fr A 1 i iR 3k & receivables of $2,403,000 (2019: $2,696,000), are expected to be
At JE s 3K TE 3 AT A — AR 9 i TR B R R recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
HEH -
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HE W Bk sk B 3 fib HE W sk o)

R AR IR H o SR R (B s 4R
AR ) R N 2 IRE AT T

16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

At of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors (net of loss allowance) based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019

$°000 $'000

— AN Within 1 month 12,186 19,213
—{@H L EE A8 A LA Over 1 month but within 2 months 1,261 1,429
A EE=MA A Over 2 months but within 3 months 774 1,007
AL EEAF A PN Over 3 months but within 12 months 2,838 2649
il e [ | Over 12 months 345 402
17,404 25,690

B WS B K 7E % B H AR 9 30 £ 90 H 1A F|
By AR B A B BUR 20 — A0 R OR
Bt 5E 5 25(a) JH o

Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from the date of billing.
Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 25(a).

REeERBAEEEY KX MBE 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
4 W' R information
(a) BERBEEEFEY B : (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
AT Z A7 K Deposits with banks 66,806 205,716
SRATAE K B B4 Cash at bank and on hand 86,690 116,185
LA BRI R TR Z Cash and cash equivalents in the
Bl KBS E Y consolidated statement of
financial position 153,496 321,901
SRAT 5 S (M RESE 19H) Bank overdrafts (note 19) (7,485) 6,777)
GAEBESREERENRZ Cash and cash equivalents in the
Bl B B S H Y consolidated cash flow statement 146,011 315,124

FFAB S KB &S EYNWE B S
#H %) 4,006,000 G ( — F — Ju 4
5,000,000 JG) > 2 A 5 8 1A o 8 8 A
SRAT A A N R WA R e A B
%4 TE W BT AN > JH B SF B BUR
T o FE &

Included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents is an amount
of $4,006,000 (2019: $5,000,000) representing Renminbi Yuan
deposits placed with banks in the PRC by the Group. The
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to the
exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

2019/20 % # O
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17 REeERBRAESEY K E b3
&0 aE B (8
(b) A% BRBE BT (MG 40) 3% F i 5 s 45

17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
information (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash used in

HEBHZ B operations:
B 5T 2020 2019
Note $°000 $000
W Bl i (B $8) ¥ (Loss)/profit before taxation (67,128) 97,684
IR H ¢ Adjustments for:
FHES A G E Z &M EE  Interest income on financial assets

Z A Bl A measured at amortised cost 5 (2,552) (2,473)
o oAt W 3 s K Net loss on disposal of other property,

B2 EREE plant and equipment 5 852 271
A i N ] 22 IR g VR AR Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary o8 _ (129,510)
SRS L/ E A& Net gain on disposal of an investment

ik property 1(f) - (3,580)
HEREE B L R Net gain on disposal of land and

i 75 5 B buildings held for own use 11(g) = (44,753)
AR E R Net gain on disposal of trading securities

CE R 5 - 39)
5B R 2 O Net unrealised gain on trading securities

Z R 5 B g 1 5 (98) (28)
T8 AE B B B B B AR 78 Reversal of provisions for potential PRC

B ] customs duties and indemnity
B liabilities 23 (120,420) -
fill R A Finance costs 6(a) 3,841 75
e ) . Depreciation 6(c) 65,467 13,965
K@y AL ER IR (48)  Net valuation losses/(gains) on

e} investment properties 11(a) 35,242 (5,330)
&5 48 A [ 1 A Provision for onerous contracts 8(c) - 10,600
o 3 - B KB 2 Impairment loss on other property, plant

WEEE and equipment 6(c) 43,199 3,493
HEE HE 2 T 2 8 (E s 1R Impairment loss on lease premium 8(c) 5,685 _
FH 4 T Rent concessions (5,458) _
& 50, e 18 Foreign exchange loss 10,204 3,068

R A ) Changes in working capital:
R 7 G Decrease/(increase) in inventories 19,902 (5,607)
4 4 & D Decrease in rental deposits 6,477 180
T i BE 25 3 0 Decrease in trade debtors 7,642 2,759
e &~ THAT R R H A RE Decrease/(increase) in deposits,

WO Y (B ) prepayments and other receivables 2,161 (2,345)
JRE AT e 3 2D Decrease in trade creditors (3,285) (3,843)
JEEASH 2L 38 (3l 2) B (Decrease)/increase in bills payable (1,346) 3,352
At 1 AT K B R w2 (Decrease)/increase in other payables

(W) 8 and accrued charges (12,860) 468
&R & & ) 1 m (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (1,236) 125
1A W Decrease in provisions (179) (1,418)
JE A} B 8 ] 3R A (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to

il > i

b)) /1 related companies (1,006) 1177

MEEBI A HA Cash used in operations (14,896) (61,708)
B 5« AR 42 ) 00 A S48 HT OB 0 0 o R A Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

I i e HI S 16 9E IE A B & approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise

—JUE A — B 2 ) 45 B - Ll 56 i right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously

R 5 s o S 2517 5% 40 R RS classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Previously, cash payments

1 2 T il A8 P M ORI AR o 0 under operating leases made by the Group as a lessee of $109,619,000 were

i A A AR J R AT 4 109,619,000 classified as operating activities in the consolidated cash flow statement.

TG 2 S8BT TE T B4 1 BOR S A B4 Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease payments, payments for leases

W RN S o REE of low value assets and variable lease payments not included in the

B e R B 16 9E - BRAE RF A measurement of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on leases are now split

A R G A 2 AT R AR into capital element and interest element (see note 17(c)) and classified as

(B 5 2 R A5 S B AT AL A OOk > B financing cash outflows. Under the modified retrospective approach, the

A H A E A FH 4 B 2 50 I A AR TR 4y comparative information is not restated. Further details on the impact of the

e S EE 3 (2 B B 5T 55 17 () TH) NI 43 5 transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 1(c).

T BB B A R e ARBR A S T B Wk

Ll 35 L Ol 4 B o A AR R E A S B

T HE e 160 2 B M — BT

15 4 51 7 B T 5 1 (c) TE -

93 2019/20 Annual Report




B % 4t 3R B st
Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 5 45 Br 15 4F - # LI i o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 R4 RBLS%5MEY XEMEB 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

0N EEH (s information (continued)
(c) Hi il & iE B e 2k 2 il i % (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
A S [ IR R TR B I A AR 2 B The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
B U S REBR LT C financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
FESIA T 3R o po RS B AR R Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
B 2 5% 18 75 i & M 2R 1 B & 0> cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
WAELEENGE B SERERD > & Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
S R T TR By 2 B e financing activities.
BRI RIS JE &7 B
Interest Lease B Interest ok
accruals liabilities Total accruals Total
2020 2019
(W ita) (Hska)
(Note a) 2020 2020 (Note a) 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
43 At the beginning of the year - - - _ -

KPR G GBS HR 5 Impact on initial application of
BANEI6H ML E  HKFRS 16 (note (0))

(HE 3E (0) J5) - 102,900 102,900 - -
A0 Gl %) At the beginning of the year
(adjusted) - 102,900 102,900 - -
BEBERED: Changes from financing cash flows:
FlE Interest paid (126) - (126) (75) (75)
EEfMEfM4 2 EA Capital element of lease rentals paid
A - (54,328) (54,328) - -
EEAMEM4 2 HE Interest element of lease rentals paid
iRy = (3,715) (3,715) - -
WMEREWEHAE  Total changes from financing
cash flows (126) (58,043) (58,169) (75) (75)
Hfbst g Other changes:
RIS S (B E456(@)TE)  Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 126 3,715 3,841 75 75
RAERBFHEZ Increase in lease liabilities from
& A E entering into new leases during
the year - 65,339 65,339 - -
WE-HEB Adjustment - lease modifications - (2,462) (2,462) _
iR Rent concessions (note 11(c))
(5 5 11(c) ) - (5,458) (5,458) -
126 61,134 61,260 75 75
L At the end of the year - 105,991 105,991 - _
Mista :RATE XA B GLFERES AL B Note a: Interest accruals represented interests on bank overdrafts which were
A 355 T 47 A IS OIR 0 36 1 T HE A5F R 3k I included in “Trade and other payables and contract liabilities” on the face
oAt JE AT 3R K A R A o of the consolidated statement of financial position.
B sk b A B2 B A A48 BT 4R 00k R R E Note b: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
W B R T A 16 Sl R R method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise

T JUE A — B Z W& DLk
SRR U R AT R A
MEMBZHEHRAMEAK - 28
B 5E 45 1(c) K 5 17(0) T -

lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. See notes 1(c) and 17(b).
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17 B4E RBE%5EY KM 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

&0 aE B (8 information (continued)

d) HMEBERHBEE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
GEHEWMEBEXRPEBEUTHEZ Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for
ok leases comprise the following:

2019

(B 5E)

2020 (Note)

$°000 $000

HEEREBR &N E Within operating cash flows | 29,465 109,619

i, 55 7E B BB Within financing cash flows ! 58,043 _

! 87,508 109,619
FfFGE = An B GE EB 17(b) JE N Ak > PR R W Note:  As explained in the note to note 17(b), the adoption of HKFRS 16
B % e T 55 16 9% 51 A Bt L B AR 4 S introduces a change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals paid

T4 THENB &R EN BN on leases. The comparative amounts have not been restated.

WA &8 T HEA -

18 ME £} Mg 3% & JU fib HE £ 3% & & 18 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities
I £ 1

SRORE O FUE
=A=+—H =A=+—H

31 March 31 March
2020 2019
$°000 $°000

HE A Wi 3% B JE Al HE 4§ 3K Trade and other payables
JE 1 22 4% Bills payable 3,489 4,954
JE AT B 3K Trade creditors 14,002 17708
17,491 22,682
HoAth FE AT 3 X EAT# A Other payables and accrued charges 30,075 46,506
JE A} B 3\ | BROE Amounts due to related companies 982 1,991
48,548 71,179

£ I A Contract liabilities

A IR B K Receipts in advance 3,657 5,027
52,205 76,206
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(B 5 45 Br 15 4F - # LI i o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(continued)

HE A i 35k Je JE At HE £F 5k

(a) Trade and other payables

18 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities

JEE A5F R K % G b B AF 3K JELR 19 B A
EWBIR — F R HHE -

JOE AT IR 2R 2% WD RO A AR - e B
Be HEHE 3 AR 7 -

WA WS R B AR S & e
RN H IR TN

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year.

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
—A@ A K Within 1 month 13,425 18,136
—ME AL EE=A LK Over 1 month but within 3 months 2,613 2 969
=8 A B EAESE A B Over 3 months but within 6 months 904 452
A S E A Over 6 months 549 1,125
17,491 22,682

& A A (b) Contract liabilities

B R AR A ) AR RN O B
— AT R

A AR LR A 4 B B R Bt 2 A B IR
6] 4 T % 5 W HCRGK - A7 B B
AR B B2 BT AR
Sk e

Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group receives advances from certain customers in
connection with the licensing arrangements and the provision of
security printing. These advances are recognised as contract
liabilities until the performance obligations are completed.

EREENEE Movements in contract liabilities
2020 2019
$’000 $°000
AEY) At the beginning of the year 5,027 5,385
FRNHERBFENFTASR L Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
B T A recognising revenue during the year that
& D was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (1,289) (1,128)
A S R R A HE B Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
T4 EIR 1) % 5 e A R receiving advances from customers
[IRCESEATN=Rr e il during the year in respect of the licensing
arrangements and provision of security
printing 53 1,253
T S Exchange adjustments (134) (483)
R At the end of the year 3,657 5,027

JIv A W IE TR RO TE — 4 A o D

R -

within one year.

All receipts in advance are expected to be recognised as income

2019/20 % # OG0
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19 847 & X 19 Bank overdrafts

HE " ZTE{ T —JLE=H At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the bank overdrafts were as follows:
=t —HIEFEERITELWOT

2020 2019
$°000 $000
— A A B R Repayable within one year or on demand: !
A 1P AY SR AT 5 S (MR 58 17(a) JH)  Unsecured bank overdrafts (note 17(a)) ! 7,485 6,777

MR ZFER ZE—NF=A=1+—H> At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s banking facilities were not
A S [ fr A AR AT MR BT R G OR B A K subject to the fulfilment of any financial covenants.

A WA

20 Al & B A 20 Lease liabilities
NRBUR T AL B AL WS ORI = The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
Frils A BSOS RIS 1658 E BB A ¢ Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current reporting period and

at the date of transition to HKFRS 16:

TR ORE —EF—LEF
=H=+—H ™A —H (K 58)
31 March 2020 1 April 2019 (Note)
5 AL AL 1 A &
1% 5% # A5 3R Y
B B
Present M 1§ Present & &
value  ff 5k % value I A AE
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
$000 $000 $'000 $'000
—A4ELLA Within 1 year 59,017 59,622 52,374 54,313
—AEREZER After 1 year but within 2 years 26,296 27,853 27,418 29,484
CAERELERN After 2 years but within 5 years 10,648 11,803 13,096 14,973
AR After 5 years 10,030 71,820 10,012 76,931
46,974 111,476 50,526 121,388

105,991 171,098 102,900 175,701

B AR RIS S AT A Less: total future interest expenses (65,107) (72,801)

N~ R = HRE ] Present value of lease liabilities 105,991 102,900

BR R - AR 42 B B RT A IR B A Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach
5 4 HE ) 55 169000 F R R —F — JUAE A and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities
— H 2 W &5 > DURR SE A AR 95 A g relating to leases which were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
7SS M S A AR IS o LRGeS - 17. Comparative information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated. Further
T I A v B S A ME T S 16 98 2 I I S details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 1(c).

2 K35 1(0) T o
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B H 8 Ik A

A LR T G 5 IR A v CHR A A 8 R A
W) 2 BURE > F R 4% A s CHRE i 10k 1)) 15 1
Z AR B S o R e wt # (E AR
it #1) o 5 R e Eh # Y — H A E i EOR K
wt & S 52 GE N B TR B o AR R R AR
Gt B B E LR B A LR B A B I
A 2 8% I w% st BAE 43k 5 A A B ik
A Z LR 7%530,0007C o [ &% at #1 1 i 2 fit
T B IR i

8 o B BE A E R AL 2 B A R 2
B R 2 B AR 2 5 E R IR
a# o 5% A RO SA R B R AR AT ER -
1] 5% wF & A5 2 BT B B o

— [HIAE & 8 S 2 W a8 2 W) AR 95 0 b (55
By KL k) 2 B — T E AR M B ARG #) o
% w B B A AR [0 A K 2 R
BB 1 A W a2 R
AP HE D 2B 1958 [ I & #57 F1 | ¢ 5% -

HoAt 7e 7 - B L% & DL Ak HE
85 T E A ST 2 B 4 AR 4R AR E D ik
RE I 2 B > 2 00 B 5 R B AR
Z FE OB R EE ) o 5% 4 R E O E0R
SCAT R B AR AN BR o 1 R% B AR B 2 fi
T B IR B o

B A B OR B R 2 P 3 B

(a) A7 G B 35k U0 2 Jor 7 Z A H] oy 4 i

21

22

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries established in the PRC participate in the defined
contribution retirement schemes operated by the PRC government for
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes are charged
to profit or loss when incurred. Contributions to the schemes vest
immediately.

A subsidiary established in Taiwan participates in a defined benefit
retirement plan established in accordance with the local Labour
Standards Law. The scheme is not material to the Group and, therefore,
the disclosures required by HKAS 19, Employee benefits, have not
been presented.

Subsidiaries established in other jurisdictions other than Hong Kong,
PRC and Taiwan participate in the defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by the local government for employees in
accordance with the ruling in the relevant jurisdictions. Contributions
to these schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

% represents:
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
7 s A 15 B E Balance relating to Hong Kong Profits Tax (174) 63
Tk DA AN M [ B TE M Balance relating to tax outside Hong Kong (195) 361
(369) 424
A F Analysed as follows:
7 1A AT AR [n] A IH Current tax recoverable (706) (214)
7 31 A5 B D Current tax payable 337 638
(369) 424

2019/20 ¥ # O8
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22 &4 B IR B R 2 B A4 B (s

(b) O WEGREER I & A
() EREEA BRI R R 2B
FE B IE B CE ) T KA

22 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)  The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the

EREEEEWT movements during the year are as follows
A
RBBMZYTE
Depreciation BEEHZ
in excess of H % A %
the related LEIES Future
depreciation  Revaluation 15 i benefit of B
BEBEEH : Deferred tax arising from:  allowances  of properties Provisions tax losses Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
AZFE-NERA—H A1 Apr 2018 (4,157) 4,480 (1,495) (30,062) (31,234)
E 5. 78 B Exchange adjustments - - 195 2,400 2525
TG EE (GFA) /B (Credited)/charged to
(Mt 5k 55 7(0) JE) profit or loss (note 7(a)) (1,031) - 910 4,730 4,609
REZE—NEZH=1+—H At31March 2019 and
RZF—JUEMA—H 1 Apil2019 (5,188) 4,480 (460) (22,932) (24,100)
HE 51,78 Exchange adjustments - _ 5 273 298
iR #E GEA) /4K (Credited)/charged to profit
(it 5E 5 7(a) ) or loss (note 7(a)) 4273 (4,480) 1,181 19,882 20,856
AFECFEZA=1—H At31 March 2020 (015) - 748 (2,777) (2,946)

(i) WAES A A5G MES R UL %

(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial

position
2020 2019
$°000 $'000
TE 48 & W IR L 2 N Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
MR ZIEEBIEEE  consolidated statement of financial position
8 (4,226) (25,607)
TE 48 A W IR L 22 N Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
MR Z LR IEAfE  consolidated statement of financial position
A 1,280 1,507
(2,946) (24,100)
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22 &% W B R B AR 2 B A4 B (80

(c)

(d)

PR B RE 2B 1(n) TH 2 G 51 BUR » AR 4R
I £ 514 2 5 TR s $2457,684,00000 (—
E — L4 1 291,326,000 7€ ) K H At
95,015,340 L W HEPE £ B (=& — JL
4 117,348,432 90 ) 1 BR 4y AR HE Bl H
R o R AN S5 R AR OAS K ] RE AE A
B B0 5 R [ A A T R B R
) JRE S A R o A 4R T K i RR OB TE
s 48 R A BT & o HE W H O
mr

22 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of $457,534,000 (2019: $291,326,000) and
other temporary differences of $95,015,340 (2019: $17,348,432)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
assets can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdictions. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of tax losses, whose expiry dates are:

2020 2019

$000 $'000

HEZEZFRIFTH In December 2020 21,983 23,915
HE_E 4T H In December 2021 15,234 16,204
R AT H In December 2022 21,472 22,495
E X - =F+_"H In December 2023 17,772 15,276

fFEF MWE+H In December 2024 12,563 -
EoE L E+FT A In December 2025 2,354 2,354
EFE NEFTH In December 2026 1,693 1,693
EF_EFE+TH In December 2027 170 170
F_E _NE+_H In December 2028 896 896
EZEFZNLFE+TZA In December 2029 5,762 -
EHATBH LB F A& Do not expire under current tax legislation 357,635 208,323
457,534 291,326

R 7R 2 B A B TH A

W oERCOFBEZHA=Z+—H A1
i el I =R/ I S |l
I Ik 25 %8 5 12,493,720 70 ( — & — L
4 0 25,037,000 7G ) o BB it A N B B
il 5% B 8 2\ 2 B R SR > I R R
J& 2\ A\ IR B Y E AE T 5L AR M o] R
AR B i A o A B R e R W] BE A
4 UR 7% 5 PR 88 U A T E AR T R BLIE
MW K 2 9% 3 Bi JH £ i /5 624,686 7
(= F— JL4F 1 1,252,000 0) °

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2020, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of a subsidiary based in the PRC amounted
to $12,493,720 (2019: $25,037,000). Deferred tax liabilities of
$624,686 (2019: $1,252,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the withholding tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend
policy of this subsidiary and it has been determined that it is
probable that profits of this subsidiary will not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.
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23 B i 23 Provisions
B AE i
B Bt B 6 1
P £1 %
(M 3k 23(a) )
Potential
PRC customs e 4845 Tl
duties and (B} %k 23(b) H)
indemnity Onerous
liabilities contracts Hm
(Note 23(a)) (Note 23(b)) Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
A E - A —H Balance at 1 April 2018 120,266 - 120,266
Al A Provisions made _ 10,600 10,600
1 43¢ Provisions utilised (1,418) _ (1,418)
HE 52, 3 4% Exchange adjustments 841 - 841
& —JuU# = H =1+ —H Balance at 31 March 2019 119,689 10,600 130,289
TR B AN G B S A Impact on initial application
e I 55 16 9% 1Y 5% 2 of HKFRS 16 - (10,600) (10,600)
W oEFE—JLEWNH —H Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019
A A R R 119,689 - 119,689
& {1 45 e Provisions utilised (179) - (179)
135 A4 ] 435 Reversal of provisions (120,420) _ (120,420)
HE 5, 34 B Exchange adjustments 910 - 910
AOECREZH =+ —H At 31 March 2020 - - -

@)

WEE_EZ—=F=H=1T—HI
A b HE AR L B i B AR R
b ot B (T HE b g B D) &4 0 A
il Aquascutum | h & i 1) 2 45 3]
— [H] B g 2 = J B 2 A o

4% 7 /A 7] B Aquascutum Holdings
Limited H 77 ([E 75 ) it —%F — L4
A NHET L A
%@ﬁfﬁkkuz’]fﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
W A BT AR
~£$+ A-+=0% ~%— )'L
£ 0 A =+ = H 1k " Aquascutum
Holdings Limited F [l & 2> & & 4= 19
VB IE KB () [‘%9[\ Jﬂ:%
AEHEEWMEMRBTHRE 21
Fr—HZTZHIk-

BE_Z—)HF=ZH=1T—H1FE
R 95t b 7 B Y R O TR
A TR R M DA R b SCHR R
B TR R T 5] R A &) AT TR AE AR
BB R RS PE N RS
2 438 136,319,000 T 1E £ Bl % 8 B &%
A K9 AT o A LR R R AT B T
1§ B 16,053,000 G 1E B #% 4 -

10 71 2019/20 Annual Report
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During the year ended 31 March 2013, Gongbei Customs District
of the General Administration of Customs, PRC (“Gongbei
Customs”) initiated a field audit on a subsidiary of the Group in
respect of its import of Aquascutum products to Mainland China.

According to the disposal agreement dated 28 February 2017
entered into between the Company and the purchaser of
Aquascutum Holdings Limited (the “Purchaser”), a contractual
indemnity was provided by the Group to the Purchaser for a period
from the completion date of the disposal of AQuascutum Holdings
Limited of 23 November 2017 to 22 May 2019 except for potential
claims, if any, in relation to taxes and levies arising from
Aquascutum Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries which will be
up to 22 November 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, with reference to the status
of the field audit carried out by Gongbei Customs and relevant
advice from legal counsels on the field audit as well as the
contractual indemnity arising from the disposal agreement, a
provision of $136,319,000 was made for the tax exposure and
contractual indemnity based on the best estimate of the
management and $16,053,000 have been paid to Gongbei
Customs as deposits.
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23 B M (8)

BE - Z-NE=H=+—HI1L4FE
VA BB B A &) AT O A AR RS
B B T i R s Sl AR A — A BE R o [A]
MW FEHER AN _E—JLIFE = A
=+ —HMEBEDHBEB LA S E
AT 3 A5 £ 3% 4 5 7% 14 119,689,000 JC
J2 0 H Y o

%i%jt{iﬁﬁﬂﬁ%tzﬁm%ﬁﬁﬂﬁafﬁ%m
A A Y b — R B A R A
WAEE RS AEH AR EEDN
MmN O AT o E—JUFETH
b B B Rk e S O A R KA
A B D BB BE Mo O B BE o B
*ﬁ%%z@_%zwm%> 4 3t 59,355,000

JC A D AL E AL B

Iﬂﬁﬂﬁ'r%‘%ﬁ?ih‘ A e S
—HE=H WM #dt i B A &
@Llﬁl%/\&om,ooo;n: g e ft

15,430,000 JC Y 4 %8 Ik 25 %l 38 4508t
JH 9,355,000 7T HY iR 48 o

R 95 A 4 B A8 1 R AT AR R
AR, Rl A O SER  ANE M
Z B S FOAS & H R
—H AR TE > B O A F W AE
IR 5045 40 30 AT B PR B R R A -
o, s - F T4 = A
=+ —HIEFEEMBERZEN RN
() 4% 45 120,420,000 7T 4 1] A -

158 5 0 B 3B 7 U SE S 0 RE L P L Y
s 1R & A A e o RIS LA -
A7 35 19 K T G A A O T TR A
FH 75 4 L 19 S E 2 9 RS A 4 o
P s FET 70 8 A ) b o R R 1R &
[F] 45 -

FEBER -F - NLFEA—-HE
A PR AN T T BB R E RSB 16 5
B op Y R A RT A8 W O ik A aR

B T JUFEM A — H R B
DA AR 05 A o 8wt e ) SR 17 BE ST

TEEREHEARARNHER
RMERAR HhafR =%~
A = H R A A
A B B %4 7 AL o

23 Provisions (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no further
development in connection with the demand and settlement of
the potential PRC customs duties and the contractual indemnity.
Therefore, the management considered that it is appropriate to
maintain the provision for potential PRC customs duties and
indemnity liabilities of $119,689,000 as at 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Gongbei Customs
changed the target of the above tax case from a subsidiary of the
Group to certain import/export companies who assisted the Group
on import of goods during the period subject to challenge by
Gongbei Customs. In October 2019, Gongbei Customs
demanded those import/export companies for payment of the
underpaid customs duty and import value-added tax, with related
late payment surcharge amounted to $9,355,000 which were
borne by the Group as agreed with Gongbei Customs. During
January and March 2020, Gongbei Customs refunded a total of
$6,075,000 to the Group which was the remaining balance of the
deposits paid of $15,430,000 less the demanded taxes of
$9,355,000 as mentioned above.

Based on the legal opinion obtained by the Group, the above
case is considered closed and the subsidiary of the Group would
not be subject to further liability arising from this case. Outstanding
provision of $120,420,000 is therefore reversed in the profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The provision was made for onerous contracts for certain stores
of the Hong Kong operation during the year ended 31 March
2019. Under these contracts, the unavoidable cost of meeting
the obligations have exceeded the economic benefits expected
to be derived from the sales generated by these stores. The
provision for onerous contracts was recognised in “distribution
costs”.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases where
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17,
including the leases of retail stores for which the provision for
onerous contracts was made at 31 March 2019.
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24 A ~ B R B 24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) WE 2535 50 % B (@) Movements in components of equity
AL 2 A AR R AR A 1 AR A The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
FAER AR S5 G HERR S B R N S o each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
AN\ 225 AR RE 25 75 4 09 4R ) R AR the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
A s FEE S R changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
AR A H Company
BeA AR
Share  Retained M
By ek capital profits Total
Note $'000 $000 $°000
B NENH—H Balance at 1 April 2018 383,909 184,546 568,455
REAE 58 ) Changes in equity:
AR AE BV A R A T AR Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - 187,782 187,782
AR X E A Dividends approved and paid in respect
i S of the previous year 24(b)(ii) - (82,932) (82,932)
AAEFCDHERLCHFH  Interim dividend declared and paid in
& B respect of the current year 24(b)() - (33,173) (33,173)
B=F—JusE=H=1—H Balance at 31 March 2019 and
EZZ—L4ENA—H 1 April 2019 383,909 256,223 640,132
PER ST - Changes in equity:
A% AR B 1 e A TR AR Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year - (72,387) (72,387)
AR A B AT Dividends approved and paid in respect
i1 of the previous year 24(b)(ii) - (33,173) (33,173)
AREFETERLCHFTH  Interim dividend declared and paid in
i & respect of the current year 24(b)() - (16,586) (16,586)
R %= =1—H Balance at 31 March 2020 383,909 134,077 517,986
Bt 5 Note:
AEBHCR _F—NLENH —HEREHNE The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019
W A S 4 UE R AS 168 0 5 4 0l &R B ST using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
W FEM T VE RN 0 ASE Y L EE R o B F information is not restated. The initial adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have any
YRR SR R To i N7 e <y I significant impact on the statement of financial position of the Company at 1 April
P9 A — H Y B GIR D 3R I i K R . 2019.

1 03 2019/20 Annual Report



24 AR - Gl R B B (s)

(b) KB

U

B % 4t 3R B st
Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 5 45 Br 15 4F - # LI i o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

T A S OR AR R IR 2
R W R TE AR i HOR A
il &8 2 AL -

(b) Dividends
A AR B AL 2 B A AR 28 A RE £5 ()  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
il e @5 attributable to the year
2020 2019
$°000 $°000
L IR S AR o S A 2 o Ak Interim dividend declared and paid of 10 cents
BN (=% —JU4E - %201l (2019: 20 cents) per ordinary share 16,586 33173
AR K H & IR R Final dividend proposed after the end of the
i S50 4 A A A reporting period of Nil cents (2019: 20 cents)
(ZF— E 5 Kool per ordinary share - 33,173
16,586 66,346

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of

the reporting period.

(iy L bR B AR R A A N | ME (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
i B BRI A B S (B A 47 1A 8 it attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid
& E ) during the year

2020 2019
$°000 $'000
A B BCAE B 2 R A S A Final dividend in respect of the previous
5 M 20 il (2 A 4E W HE S HE B 4)  financial year, approved and paid during
(ZF— U - B BE501l) the year, of 20 cents (2019: 50 cents) per
ordinary share | 33,173 82,932
(c) CHEFTK VN (c) Issued share capital
2020 2019
It % Ji& B
No. of No. of
shares shares
(’000) $°000 ('000) $'000
O BT B SR e AR Ordinary shares, issued and ‘
W fully paid:
) RAER At the beginning and the ‘
end of the year 165,864 383,909 165,864 383,909

AR A o (A R 1) 55 135 Mk - AR Y

] % 2 S A T o

W B AN A HE ICHOA B ER 2
el HEfef — A — SEAR
NEEEE L2 BRI A R
Yoy 3 A o ) R R A (R A R A o

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a
par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

2019/20 % #% 104
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24 AR - Gl B R B B (s0)

(d) ik Z B K% &
()  4NEE i 5

S T fif 45 £ 455 3 55 if A 26 5 B
B ¥ 3 T AR 2 T A B S 2R o
% foff 445 AR 2 A 5L 569 1 (u) JEL BT S 2
B w1 B R o

(i) AL 5 A

Al A R TE B E W 2E
B REAE A 2 R A )
i T AR o G A AR B WL SR
1(Q) JE BT & wH O R B -

(e) W {53 IR 7% i
W E O FEZA=Z—H R
A FM A SR 6 FRFH B AN A Al
B2 IR T A AN\ B RE RN
8 %H 134,077,000 7T (& — JL4E -
256,223,00070) ° A AR H %
O R R B R I R R
AN (= F—JUA - 201) » &85
L0 (= F— JUAF : 33,173,000 7T) (B
FE 2R 24(b)() JA)

) HEAXHEH
ALEE R EAR 2 T EEER R
A SR 1] R ) 8 A P AR R R TR
R8T 755 At SR By K - AR S E 2
T s e DA R4 5 B AV EAT RV
A 7y T SR A [ S R A A R i
R R A 4

A A A M K E A AT RO K
AR B LLAE A B8 B SR [E] R D
AT RE AT R A K B R A
BN o e T A S Al iR e
-7 S PR RS I B B 2 AL B
AT AR o

RRARAT SEAR 0] > A 52 18] 4% o005 4 3
AR AR RERHLEARLR -
BLT & > A 52 i 0 5 4 B 0 2 7 48
5 (B A6 w2 B0 3k 8 A 4 DL % I A+
Rk e & A A e AL A ) I 2
FHEEIR RS W KBS EY
K6 T B R R LA I A RE 2 O 0k JF
ZaH IR B -
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(e)

(i)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 1(u).

(i)  Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the surplus on
revaluation of land and buildings held for own use upon
change of use to investment properties. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 1(g).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was 134,077,000 (2019: $256,223,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of Nil cents (2019: 20 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to $Nil (2019: $33,173,000) (note 24(b)(i).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between a higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt (which
includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other
payables and contract liabilities and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued
proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.
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24 A ~ G B B B (s 24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
f) BAREH(H) (f) Capital management (continued)

A A B R A1 OB B TR R E A The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
B W B i e RIS 1698 - AR 4E I retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group
FiEALEEA F—JLENA — recognizes right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities
H st %7 r 5 Sl DA ' A for almost all leases previously accounted for as operating leases
W i) FHL B TE B e RR 0 R R A as from 1 April 2019. This caused a significant increase in the
JRE B o S AR R AR Group’s total debt and hence the Group’s adjusted net debt-to-
HEEm HitAEBHR % capital ratio rose from (31)% to (15)% on 1 April 2019 when
—JLAENH — HE A FEEEAR compared to its position as at 31 March 2019.

R T~ NE=ZA=+—HMW
FRBCAHEE > B (31)% L F+ E(15)% °

A A [ A R R T i 1R R The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the
KA R s W R R R A current and previous reporting periods and at the date of transition
1655 H 1 1 8 5 80 B B A % to HKFRS 16 was as follows:

mr

T
“gm®F WA SA=tH

SYHIESIEH (B 5%) (P 5E)
1 April 2019 31 March 2019
ff# 31 March 2020 (Note) (Note)
Note $°000 $'000 $000
=R Current liabllities:
JAEAof % K S EC A ME A 3K Trade and other payables and

KgAK contract liabilities 18 52,205 76,206 76,206
ATE X Bank overdrafts 19 7,485 6,777 6,777
& A Lease liabilties 20 59,017 52,374 -

118,707 135,357 82,983
e = Non-current liability:

HEARE Lease liabilities 20 46,974 50,526 -
H B A Total debt 165,681 185,883 82,983
IR kS Add: Proposed dividends 24(b)() = 33,173 33,173
W Ble KB &% Y Less: Cash and cash equivalents  17(a) (153,496) (321,901) (321,901)
BewH Adjusted net debt 12,185 (102,845) (205,745)
T Total equity 557,834 704,568 704,568
W+ 4R AR Less: Proposed dividends 24(0)() - (33,173) (33,173)
W R E AR Adjusted capital 557,834 671,395 671,395
HHFEERNBEEA  Adjusted net debt-to-capital

I % ratio 2% (15)% (31)%
BfFaE - AGEE OB RT R L E K E A Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

s BB A e HI 28 16 9% I 5 R R approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
TV H — B 2 w045 6 LAk lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as operating
e TR G R R EATSE  B leases under HKAS 17. Under this approach, the comparative information is
MEHEMEMRRHE &M i1t not restated. See note 1(c).
TN - RE SR o 2B KR
1(c)JH »
AN w) R H AT Any B & A | ¥R 2 Ah Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
Tt N 2 AR B PR o externally imposed capital requirements.

2019/20 % % 100
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25 W E BB R & L A
fe i

A AR g AR IR B R AR b B B
PR/ <o S P N W S S E 1)
P FF AR E R 2 W T
9 8 A% JL B o

A48 9 KA B R B o SIE A A DL B B
PO R i A R e B

(a) 15 F /& B
fFEREEL I T EHAEASLHE
AT 4 S0 B2 ) B 5 gl 4R 00 JEL R -

ALBERGEREREZERAES L
At 1B i RO - IR O B A B R e R
FRERNRZE R AEENH &
Je B SE AR Yy A AR A5 SRR A BR
DR 7% 36 - 07 T A P W 0 L B B SR AT
A SR T 2 B EE A AR R L e A -

EOHLRE W E TR RO > I A
P S £ B R B o 1R B R B Y g oK
Jo\ B rh A B S G DL 3R P A TH A
B W MR T (E RO -

FRBHEEe REMRAEEG
FEAE TG PG R 7 2 36 i R WSR3
A 39 N7 A R A K S o

AL W B i £ B R B B R
A5 K w3 36 0 AR AR D e
ALE R TEME LG EE
CRGRIN & T20-% ULy DEEE= 9:100

A AR B TE R AT R %R A o P
o5 RP AR R L B SRAT 4 R
A 10 L B e

HH Ty B A Wi E T i R
fEEFEfE B A &2l —EE
WG E P EATN - 5 LT
I H R 5 At 25 00 B A KRR S A
B S A RE T R R F R E
(15 B DL K B S RS BT R A RS
REAHNGEE -85 685 NEE
A AR B o AL
BN &1 & 5 R AT A

AL TR 32 2 A5 R Y % 5 K
Fp sy e ARES 25
EEVENTEIUE S 0) N WIS x
o FE R B o R D o R AR
e R sz 8 R % P 2 EE R R B
AR R B R e R
—EFERER F L= NA
=+ — B A BT A &R R
7 4 ] 1 R i B B % L A B AR Y
oy
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25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to trading securities price risk arising from the trading securities held
by the Group.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, non-current rental deposits and trading securities.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with
sound credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Non-current rental deposits primarily comprise of amounts
receivable from the landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls
with no recent history of material defaults.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristic of each landlord of retail outlets and
shopping malls. The Group has worked with a large number of
landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group only invests in liquid financial assets quoted on a
recognised stock exchange or banks/financial institutions with
sound credit rating.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade debtors are due within 90 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customer operates and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk only arise if the Group has significant
exposure to individual customer. At 31 March 2020 and 2019,
no individual customer with whom balance has exceeded 10%
of the Group’s trade and other receivables.
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25 S E B LS E T /LA
o AE (80D

(a) 17 B M B (A7)

S LIV SR 8 IR T
HEHNSHEAER S HHEANE
SR > % o B 9 A R
F P A 4 T YRR S AR 4B K KR B Il
REBEYIAE R R KRB XA
B R BL > IR O R A A IR BB Y 1B
KW AGE LB AEIBA
[ & 5 B o

A S B A B 5 OB R B R B
T {5 B Ja B ORI R R BTOR

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowance for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

2020
B4R i 4
Gross T2 4% f
iy S carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $°000 $°000
A KA (R #8 4) Current (not past due) 0.0% 12,693 -
o — A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 1,008 -
s —H A Overdue over 1 month but
A=A RN within 3 months 0.0% 765 _
A8 = A A Overdue over 3 months but
B+=M@AN within 12 months 51.3% 6,033 (3,095)
o+ —F A Overdue over 12 months 100.0% 6,328 (6,328)
26,827 (9,423)
2019
B4R i 4
Gross K Bt s
Wwl e R carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $°000 $°000
A A (R 8 1) Current (not past due) 0.0% 19,774 -
A — A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 1,429 -
o — 1 A Overdue over 1 month but
(EREX N within 3 months 0.0% 1,997 _
3 = H Overdue over 3 months but
B+=MmAN within 12 months 26.0% 3,367 877)
i+ —AE H Overdue over 12 months 100.0% 7,176 (7,176)
33,743 (8,053)

201920 & % 1 08
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25 &M BB R &W L RA

oA (8)
(a) 1% 5500 b7 (45)

(b)

N B B NI R A IR A )
W

25 Financial risk management and fair values of

financial instruments (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
debtors during the year is as follows:

2020 2019

$°000 $000

i 4E ) At the beginning of the year 8,053 12,536

REE b3, 31 Exchange adjustments (256) (1,105)

L e 58 E G 18 Impairment loss recognised 5,039 872

VRN SRR Reversal of impairment loss (3,413) (5,804)

IS AS TR 1] 2 4 R Uncollectible amounts written off - 1,554

A AE R At the end of the year 9,423 8,053
i B & 4w (b) Liquidity risk

AR B R AT R R
HeEH Ui eatFEEy
BEREFEEERUEMNENZ B &
R CHE 65 0 A Y O 78 O 2 SRR
KPR H G A A F E R G H ) o
AEEMIBERAENEERD E S
R BB SF R B (A ) o B
PR AE 5 90 BL & A R B R
S5 M 2 TR K R R > D
AN HRENZ R EEFK -

R A G R A Hon R B IR A
B AR AR KRR A
AT BB TS 45 & # R R BL B & 0 (f
5 01 & #0 A 5k 5 2 R B AT A
fist 7 17 B> B 4% 45 55 H R R 2 Rl
a8 DL AR B2 AT e 2H A K 2 e
H WA -
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Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to the approval by the Company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants (if any), to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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25 @ BE A B K 4 T H A 25 Financial risk management and fair values of

fE (8) financial instruments (continued)
(b) B & & B () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
2020
£ &9 A WG B0 BL A3

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

—4EP L WML

R AR
(K3 F A =H
—4E N More than More than =4F—i
Bk 4% 7 1 year 2 years W T i
Within  butless butless TL4EP Lk Carrying
1 year or than than More than B amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
BRAT I Bank overdrafts 7,485 - - - 7,485 7,485
JRE A R 4% Bills payable 3,489 - - - 3,489 3,489
JRE AT R 3K Trade creditors 14,002 - - - 14,002 14,002
At At 2 Other payables and
K e # ] accrued charges 30,072 - - - 30,072 30,072
JRE ) I 2k Amounts due to
NI @ related companies 985 - - - 985 985
THEA K Lease liabilities (note)
(B 5%) 59,622 27,853 11,803 71,820 171,098 105,991
115,655 27,853 11,803 71,820 227,131 162,024
2019
89 R W B B4
Contractual undiscounted cash outflows
—4ED E R4 L
AR AR
K3 T4 =H
—4: 4 More than More than =+—H
o 4% 8 Jn 1 year 2 years W Vi i
Within  butless  butless FAED, | Carrying
1 year or than than More than B  amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $°000 $°000 $’000 $°000 $°000
SRATIE L Bank overdrafts 6,777 _ _ _ 6,777 6,777
JRE A 5 45 Bills payable 4,954 - - - 4,954 4,954
JRE AT B 3K Trade creditors 17,728 - - - 17,728 17,728
H Al #E A} 3 Other payables and
K MEFHE ] accrued charges 46,506 - - - 46,506 46,506
JRE AT [ 7 Amounts due to
NEIE- Q| related companies 1,991 _ - - 1,991 1,991
77,956 - - - 77,956 77,956
B &« AR 42 G F 445 B AE B TR T K E R I Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

BB A AR 6 9 - R = & — JLAE
PO A — F A ) A B LB R AR IR
EEFERNEITR S AKEHEY
L i RR A0 A o A R AR R
e 2 A ¥ BB 0 Y DS 16 58 Ot
55 AR B8 A s 6 RE O R AT R B
MEHEmEEEN e UL ER
AT SLOHT R A o AR UL T
EORVR T E A o 2 B B Rk A 1 () I -

approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. Lease liabilities include amounts
recognised at the date of transition to HKFRS 16 in respect of leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17 and amounts
relating to new leases entered into during the year. Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

201920 # %110
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25 Rl BE A B K Ak A
oo AE (80

(c) FI i
AR A B 2 )R AR E RATIE S -
e w] A A AR A 2 S B A 4R F R
52 & RN R JE B o AR B I B
NI E R N
WA B MEEERARZAH
WA PR o 4 B RE B 4% 2 AR 4R R R

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank overdrafts.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its fixed
rate and variable rate borrowings and manages the contractual
terms of the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities. The
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by management is set

DLk F R out below:
() FI =AM ()  Interest rate profile
T RFEI AR 2 R A R The following table details the interest rate profile of the
IR H 2 R R AL o Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
2020 2019
BB AR % BRI E %
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% $°000 % $'000
[l & # % 4 £ Fixed rate borrowings:
T A 6 (B Lease liabilities (note) 3.29 105,991 N/A _
LR ¥ EX §t Variable rate borrowings:
AT IE L Bank overdrafts 1.18 7,485 1.04 6,777
& 457 48 &5 Total borrowings 113,476 6,777
TE B %A B2 4% Fixed rate borrowings as a
RS SN percentage of total
borrowings 93% 0%
Bt RE : AEEE AT E I E K Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified

JRE R s S 5 R A o ) S 16 98 NI
BN F - JUENA —H 2
B &5 B - LAE S AT R IR E
W7 B A BT E 2
EERMEEAM £ IET
K G LG R e 2 B Rk
1(0) B -

(i) O by

AR _FBE=ZA=+—H>
18 5 I A Ath 585 BUOR B R 5
Fl R EEHE AT BE 1001 5 2
il 5 € 8 BUA 4R W 2 BB
BEF R EMT
M/ b I+ #152,0007C (— % — JL
AF AR SR 2 B B AR R B 1R
B s R R B FF4145,00000) ©
bE A HERR 2 HA R A & A
FRIEHE T BRI 2 B 5

bR O T IR e A S
BB 15 5 3L (% 1% B8 3 )
VR % 58 0 1 2 2 2 4 A R
LSV ONCT T YT
I LR ) 4 T B ] —
17 -
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(i)

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
See note 1(c).

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased
the Group’s loss after tax and decreased/increased retained
profits by approximately $52,000 (2019: decreased/
increased the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately $45,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not be affected in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the
Group’s loss/profit after tax (and retained profits) that would
arise assuming that there is an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.
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25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”),
Euros, Renminbi Yuan and Japanese Yen.

As the Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD,
management does not expect any significant movements in the
USD/HKD exchange rate and considers the exposure to foreign
currency risk in relation to the USD to be low. However,
management acknowledges that it is exposed to fluctuations in
the exchange rate for other currencies and the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of the
Group’s entities whose functional currency is HKD, in either HKD
or USD. Given this, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end
of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposures are shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate
at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation
of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong
into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

74 3% A W W B (DA % 7 3 m)
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)
X by N HH
United States Pound B ot Renminbi Japanese
Dollars Sterling Euros Yuan Yen
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000
MW B Trade and other
HABEUK  receivables 3920 4,752 - - 85 379 21 6 - -
Ha K Cash and cash
BaEHY equivalents 1,272 2,780 121 130 796 2,916 1 13,234 23,884 364 424
MERTBEK . Trade and other
HAERZ  payables and
KA AR contract liabilities (436) (1,691) - - (6,271) (6,284) (824) (829)  (524) (479
4,756 5,841 121 130 = (5,100) (2,989) 12,431 23,061 (160) (51)
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25 S B LT /LA
o AE (80

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d) S BE (%) (d) Currency risk (continued)
(i) WUREE AT (i)  Sensitivity analysis
T 2R G R i A R R B AR The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
A8 ] R I EE ORI B Y BN T R the Group’s loss/profit after tax (and retained profits) that
A CEHOEE A A ) Ot 8 i IR would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
FEANEE > BAREFHMNBAR R (K& has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
14 58 8 F)) 2 ARG R RE AL o B had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
s A 4R R 2 W o M B remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the
JG 2 [ 2 b8 B R 7 38 0 3 pegged rates between the HKD and the USD would be
fib & W 2 B =R 535 Bl 5 228 T4 o materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.
2020 2019
BBk
Bz WA
(34 m) B
R ¥ e A 2 3} B B A% W A
Bim, (W A4) zm,/
Decrease/ () &
W& LT (increase) in MER E b 3 85 %5 A
(F¥%) loss after tax ('~ %) Increase/
Increase/ and increase/ Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) (decrease) (decrease) in profit after
in foreign in retained in foreign tax and
exchange rates profits  exchange rates retained profits
% $°000 % $°000
g Pound Sterling 5 6 5 7
(5) (6) (%) (7)
ik ot Euros 5 (258) 5 (101)
(5) 258 5) 101
NN Renminbi Yuan 5 663 5 1,194
(5) (663) 5) (1,194)
H Japanese Yen 5 (6) 5 @)
(5) 6 () 2

B3R T B R A B AR R
A TR A RS OR A L
A B #aHE (A 2ERAR
O % A 5 R B 2 BE R 5
Rt 2 AR BLR R
it A A RE 25 2 B IRe A DF 2 -

B 23 BT © RS0 AN T BE 2 2
= e T s N SSE
R A7 S AR W OR B A 4R
T B A0 R\ B el TR e
b 73 B AN 45 i 7 s DA Sh 368
R BE AL B
IR EAE ZEE &
— LR AT R S AT -
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Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ loss/profit after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.
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25 @ M BE 4 B X 4 T H A 25 Financial risk management and fair values of
fe A (%) financial instruments (continued)

(e) &1 B%

(e) Pricerisk

0]

AR B R OK S R AF EOE R R T E R
2 B 5 ) R B (2 Bl B BT SR 1408 -

3 R (O = BT P £ TS
E R HOED TR B A R
R BB T AR LE o DL KA 4R Y R
BHEeEK-

WEFEFE =A==+ —H o A
GAEMBHmEPAELENEEEN
w2 R W T R sk e 5%
(ZF — JLAF 1 5%) » T i1 A H A 5
BOOR RS 52 > Rl g Bk D o8 A 4
19 Bl A% s A (B 1 s ek 20 £ B i )
920,000 70 (=& — JLAF = 38 Jin 55 3k >
ASE E bR OBL R W A K& MR R
916,00070) ° 43 Hr 7 — % — JL4E DA AR
] A JE i o AT o

0 R AE
() ARMEARZSREEKAMGE

AN S

NG B = R/ | VR [ /7N
HE R B M e & o
HEEERHBEZELE D BHFIB
TS i I S 13 4N A 1 (e
Tl & T B W = s e R R
(5 — &> Al (B BT A
B E (S BHEESE110)()H) -

WRE “F FER F
S b — H R R
B M AR
S 1 RS o
S L 9 B A2 7 S 0 9
0 R B R 26 T (2R 22 D
WS -

(i) DAARMBEUAIINAIRZ &/ T H
ERNPI:]

R A7 Al LR A 5 38 6 B
e 2 4 T B 0 R I 5 %
CEAE R F L = A
St B2 AR K ER -

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from the trading
securities (see note 14).

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of the securities compared to the
expectations, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that an increase or decrease
of 5% (2019: 5%) in the market value of the Group’s trading
securities, with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss after tax and increased/
decreased the Group’s retained profits by $920,000 (2019:
increased/decreased the Group’s profit after tax and retained
profits by $916,000). The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2019.

Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis. The fair value of the trading securities falls within Level
1 of the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
18, Fair value measurement, based on the inputs used in
the valuation technique (see note 11(b)(i)).

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

All other financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or
amortised cost are carried at amounts not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

2019/20 % % 114
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Commitment

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

LB I b b8

Properties Others Total

$°000 $°000 $°000

— R Within 1 year | 88,665 2,305 90,970
— B AH AR N After 1 year but within 5 years | 42,404 - 42,404
HAE% After 5 years ! 76,931 - 76,931
! 208,000 2,305 210,305

A 5 B B AR R R B (S0 AR 9 s | T
HISEA7SE AR EHE) A NET
EXIE N T N O NI NE <Y R
FH A8 A& BB B35 1 WK R R A U B RS A
HERISE 1658 o AR PR 0k ik AEE R
T —JLAEM H — B 0 4 45 6 DLRE RS
Bl 5% 5% B AH B A B A A (B3R5 1(c)
W) o H F—JLEMNA — H#E > KM
B AT 3T AR A8 B 5 56 1() JE T S BOR  45
AEMBRAERAERAHEARK AH
A A R B FH B AT R 2 wE I R B AR SR
2078 -

EREBALZY

W AE 7 &5 6 SV 5 i 3R At i 5 B R 2
B Gy B &GRS A S B R B BN &
HATLL N o

(@ LTEEHMANBNZY

P ERAEMABY BA R Z R
B 2 B AT SR 8 TH I Bk
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27

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and office
equipment held under leases which were previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to these leases (see note 1(c)). From 1 April 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with the
policies set out in note 1(i), and the details regarding the Group’s future
lease payments are disclosed in note 20.

Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

All members of key management personnel are the directors of
the Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 8.
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(b) BHRITRKARAF - LB LA (&
VLR AR J ) AT 2 32 By B ) 3
i 2 BeR O 24 w27 T 36 2 9 [ 6f 7
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27 Material related party transactions (continued)

(b) Transactions with and amounts paid to Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Yangtzekiang Garment Group”)
(certain directors of the Company are collectively the controlling
shareholders of both the Yangtzekiang Garment Group and the

Group):
2020 2019
$000 $000

A BA P Purchases of garment products 11,166 16,241

O AT e MEASH P 6 & Rental expenses paid and payable on properties

(Bff 5 i) (note i) 6,000 6,009
O AN B A 4 3 Management fees paid and payable 804 304
CAT M REAT KB4 % Building management fees paid and payable 180 180

B AE B HE £ M B AE B ) B 3
e LR E Related interest expense
Amount owed by the for the year ended
Group as at 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
B B &% P Financing arrangement $°000 $'000 $’000 $'000

AL £ 48 (B 5D Lease liabilities (note ii) 14,330 _ _ _

Bt G Note:

() HTEFEREFZHBALHEBELSRIL ()  As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling
WREMBAERZ ERERKCERXRSZH shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Yangtzekiang Garment Group
LETTAAD o UL s BL B3 B R R A 4R ] and the Group, the above transactions constitute continuing connected
ZAEHBE T Y (B RSB LT A transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
14ATE) o b T B HI 58 14A 5 T 8L 22 1Y 4% required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the section
08 o TR A R (R Y | — e “Connected transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

iy WHoF-LFE=H AEHBFRITHK (i) InMarch 2017, the Group entered into a three-year lease in respect of certain

SEEI 2 TR AT B S AR AL
DERAZEMAE BRE T _FFE=]
= BRI AL EAR R E L
5 #9 F1 4 % 45 H 500,000 JC > 42 % )5 45 2
17 B B A R G o B T s TS S e
FIEE 105 0 I H > A S B C 8 1 Rk
L LBk N RS o OB R S
e e 9E R B T2 A A JE T
T s B S R 4 o RIS 16 55 AT B R 1Y
Moo BN M ER -2 - FFE=]
=t —HEE RZHEE#RE %
CEREZA=Z+ R ILEEBEBREE
e St e Q7 B AR R o

W E TS AR E LA AR
WO R 25T S By ) = AR AR o AR 4R
9] AR 4% AL 6 B S A A9 AL 42 2% 49 H 400,000
TG A R KE S % T U L R T e
EZMEET A AEEREE ST
5 ¥ e )5 16 9 FE BB 08 A RE G L
5 £ 1 514,330,000 TG © A #% 46 15 2o )
%o WG AT ES - 2RIMEE1(c)E -

leasehold properties from Yangtzekiang Garment Group for its own office
use. The amount of rent payable by the Group under the lease is $500,000
per month for the year ended 31 March 2020, which was determined with
reference to market rent. On the date of transition of HKFRS 16, the Group
elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS 16 in respect of the leases
for which the remaining lease term ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16. As the lease term of the lease ends on 31
March 2020, the lease continues to be accounted for and reported under
HKAS 17 during the year ended 31 March 2020.

In March 2020, the Group entered into a three-year lease in respect of the
same leasehold properties mentioned above. The amount of rent payable by
the Group under the lease is $400,000 per month, which was determined
with reference to market rent. At the date of lease modification of the lease,
the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of $14,330,000
under HKFRS 16. Under the modified retrospective approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 1(c).

201920 5 %116



Wi 3R W s

Notes to the Financial Statements
(B 3 44 Br 45 4F > 2 LIt o %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27 EAKBWBALRS @m) 27 Material related party transactions (continued)
() M_FE_FEHF=ZH =+ —HREAE (c) Outstanding balances due to related companies as at 31 March
N F A ERIT 2020:
2020 2019
$°000 $000
JEASH R VI A A B 3R IE Amounts due to Yangtzekiang
Garment Group 982 1,991
BRLBH N W 2 AR AT B The outstanding balances with related companies are
e i 8 1 RV IR 2 unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
28 WEWEB A 28 Disposal of subsidiary
i # Squash International Limited Disposal of Squash International Limited (“Squash International”)
(['Squash International ])
T JUE A H s A E R On 10 January 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
WY E = BEITEE SR I % agreement with an independent third party for the sale of the entire
Squash International » 7 £ [ — [} J& 2> 7 » issued share capital of Squash International, a subsidiary of the Group,
(K4 —1E ﬁ TR P 1 L R B JE S which held an investment property in Macau, for a total cash
2D BT M A B4 M E A consideration of $220,000,000. The transaction was completed on 14
220,000,00075 HZ 50 0m =%F—JLE January 2019.
— H 1+ H R -
i # Squash International%ﬂ‘zl-‘% Y The disposal of Squash International had the following effect on the
RS Group’s assets and liabilities.
(i 2019
Note $'000
L7/ Investment properties 11(a) 88,200
JRE W R R e Al B o K Trade and other receivables 5
JEATRE 2k N HoAh E AT 3k L A Rl & f& Trade and other payables and contract liabilities (1,969)
i B 22 8 v N A Net identifiable assets disposed of 86,236
B R & E 2 H A A Other costs directly attributable to the disposal 4254
A i JE N\ 2 IR g T AR Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary 129,510
LB 4 57 A Satisfied by cash 220,000
o B A D 0 A B R 2 A The revaluation reserve related to the investment property of
#§ % 85,797,000 76 M . ¥ 51 A MR B i I o $85,797,000 was released directly to retained profits upon the disposal
of the subsidiary.
A B % Squash International 2 5 Bl 4 i An analysis of the net cash inflow in respect of the disposal of Squash
A HanF International was as follow:
2019
$'000
ez AR DA B4 S AT Consideration received, satisfied by cash 220,000
B A L S E S 2 Other costs directly attributable to the disposal
A B A charged as expenses (4,254)
FPAREEBEAR SR ZHE Net cash inflow included in cash flows generated
Z WA from investing activities 215,746

1 17 2019/20 Annual Report
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29 Company-level statement of financial position

2019
(Fff 5E)
(3 2020 (Note)
Note $°000 $'000
Ik i By ¥ Non-current assets
L/ ER =N & ] Property, plant and equipment 14,330 _
WeF Jagg 2~ i) HE 4 Interests in subsidiaries 62,780 233,136
IR S T 15 Bl Deferred tax assets 6 8
77,116 233,144
i B ¥ A Current assets
Al 18 s K Other receivables 802 4,377
JRE Wi B g 2 T Bk Amounts due from subsidiaries 417,462 341,219
A ) T AR 0] B JH Current tax recoverable 286 -
Ha KRB &% EY Cash and cash equivalents 103,721 223,779
522,271 569,375
it B A % Current liabilities
Al 1 AT 3K Other payables 11,170 15,380
JRE AT Y G A ) 3K I Amounts due to subsidiaries 55,902 55,538
& A E Lease liabilities 4,890 -
A 30 JE A B IE Current tax payable - 150
B Provisions - 91,319
71,962 162,387
it ) & A A Net current assets 450,309 406,988
28 A WU ) £ A Total assets less current liabilities 527,425 640,132
I o £ 4% Non-current liability
GIN-S=Ki Lease liabilities 9,439 -
% A A NET ASSETS 517,986 640,132
JBe A B il 4 CAPITAL AND RESERVE 24(a)
e A Share capital 383,909 383,909
fif i Reserve 134,077 256,223
il 2 A8 TOTAL EQUITY 517,986 640,132
Ff 5 - Note:

AN F LR = F— JUAE ] — H O R T A i B
i B 5 16 9% 0 28 R 0 T AC A AT A M AE LT
B ANTE S A R 2 B RE S () o il )
PR 7 s 5 A e S SR 16 BRI I A B A A F R T
T U A — B AR LR A R B

FEHEREN F FENA UK
& AN (D
Bl A& %

EH
JH I

—_—— — — —

The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).
The initial adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have any material impact on the statement of

financial position of the Company at 1 April 2019.

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 June 2020.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

)
)
) Directors
)
)

201920 # %118
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30 8 A% JE e R e R

P 2B 2 e AR A B KA AT 51 B AT A AR
DUAE ZE ST A BT OR Ao AL A K
AT R A AR B R W R B L BUR AR
KRB IE — AL -

B A W AT Bk T W OR AR
TR B B DLV A T Al A 42
SE R IV B B o AR R I ) B AR
% 5% FE > Sl 20 A W) A B AR R B 52
DAPR 5 8 8 6 4 TR A > ol B R 4R B B S

30 Non-adjusting event after the reporting period

The current adverse situation caused by the Covid-19 pandemic is
unseen in the industry ever before. The Group expected its operating
results will be further deteriorated in the coming year when deeper
impact from the pandemic will be realised.

Given the unpredictability of future developments brought by the
pandemic, it is difficult for management to precisely assess the financial
impact on the Group’s financial performance at this stage. The Group
will closely monitor the development of the outbreak and minimise the
impact on the financial position and operating results of the Group by

SR LR AR B R Y R R R IR o cutting costs and overheads to preserve working capital.
31 B HE R 31 Comparative figures
ALEHR ZF—IJLFETEHA—H &5 R The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the
A T 038 1M Oy ik I T A s RS A modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
HE RIS 16 9% o MR8 RZ ik I E R information is not restated. Further details of the changes in accounting
£ IO i W s e D R () policies are disclosed in note 1(c).
TEAFHE — 2 P % -
32 A B AR AT 32 Immediate and ultimate controlling party
ACECFEZA=ZT—H BEERE At 31 March 2020, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate
ALEEMNEES AR KSR AR5 controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment Corporation
Chan Family Investment Corporation Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. This entity does
Limited » 7% B 2 B 5 5 M 57 - 3% A A not provide financial statements available for public use.
I B A mT AR DR Y B S R R
B UAHMMENGREEKE —-F % 33 Possible impact of amendments, new standards
HEEH=Z24—HIEAEEAMZ and interpretations issued but not yet effective
f& 5T ~ B oE B R R R W) BB RO for the year ended 31 March 2020
2
WEABWETI B & ke Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
N DM 2 TEAE AT R R > 3 s issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not
SRR kMR E B BE= A yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2020 and which have not
= —HFERE AN R R A S been adopted in these consolidated financial statements. These
WS4 3 th B AN o A5 BB ET % e R A 4 developments include the following which may be relevant to the Group:
THIRALHAGHZHEE -
Effective for
#F A H W82 % accounting periods
FH e g 5 T 300 I 2 3 beginning on or after
U 5 R HE R SR 3% Z AE AT “EZ - FE——H Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of 1 January 2020
FEHZER a business
HBGFHEAE 1R F B GsEN  —F F4E—A—H Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, 1 January 2020

MWL AT - BN EF

A 42 1 BLE B il oL AF B RT R E A KR
B 0 2 PR A IR T A 2 5 B o BLIE B
A A5 TSI R B L6 AT R M J T Re
5 R R

=
A%/T\ (=]
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Definition of a material

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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FEME XA
Principal Subsidiaries
BT A T FE A = H =+ — H At 31 March 2020

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d) and
have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

XY R T SRR § ]
DO B B8 Ho B8 A BB HA%
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
A 4R establishment and of issued and ownership ~ FEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
B MREA R AR &k 10,000 shares 100 gk REE
Michel René Limited Hong Kong Garment wholesaling and retailing
RILIH A PR F ik 2 shares 100 4R EHE M R AR T
YGM Marketing Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
YGM Apparel Hong Kong Limited R 2 shares 100 R REE
Hong Kong Garment wholesaling and retailing
YGM Asset Management Limited R 2 shares 100 #ERE
Hong Kong Property investment
YGM 117 35 9 Ji& (L) A7 R 22 w) # T 100,000 shares 100 MAKEE
YGM Marketing (Macau) Limited * Macau Garment retailing
R TN &t 2 shares 100 HUKRHEE
Guy Laroche Limited* Hong Kong Garment wholesaling
RN El /A R GE NGB US$1,000,000 100 A EE R EE
YGM Trading Company Limited ####  The PRC Garment wholesaling and retailing
b 7 B A R ) e GEYNE RMB500,000 100 MUARHEE R E
Shanghai Ji Yang Trading Company The PRC Garment wholesaling and retailing
lelted #IH
Michel René Enterprises Limited*** e R R 50,000 shares 68 WAL KT E
British Virgin Islands Garment wholesaling and retailing
Luk Hop Garments Limited * R 2 shares 100 WEHKE
Hong Kong *10 shares Property investment
i R el NN 7 i 60,600,000 shares 9 WEKE
Far East Gate Limited * Hong Kong Property investment
YA AR ik 6,000 shares 80 WERE
Parahood Limited # Hong Kong Property investment
BWLERBEARA A ik 2 shares 100 HEHER
Hong Kong Security Systems Limited*  Hong Kong Investment holding
T v 2 A ENR A PR W) E 100 shares 100 AW - —HEHEDHREE
Hong Kong Security Printing Limited* ~ Hong Kong EIRR R e 4R P I
Provision of security printing, general
business printing and trading of
printing products and investment
holding
Al R LRI R & 100,000 shares 9% HEER
NF Systems Holding Limited * Hong Kong Investment holding

2019720 % % 1 20



FTEWBE XA
Principal Subsidiaries

BT E D EAFE = H = — H At 31 March 2020

R DY oEfT R AR

J L B R e B0 e AR HAR

Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
RS establishment and of issued and ownership EEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
RS AR A & 1 share 95 R RE T T R 2B
NF Systems Limited * Hong Kong Development of authentication and

electronic forgery detection solutions

Société Guy Laroche * el EUR1,239,000 100 A JER AT A AR

France Trademark ownership and licensing
YGM Studio Limited il 21,061,000 shares 100 BEHEK

Hong Kong 46,800,000 shares Investment holding
YGM Consortium Limited ik 2 shares 100 HEHER

Hong Kong Investment holding
YGM Retail Limited s 2 shares 100 HEA AT T b

Hong Kong Trademark ownership and licensing

JIF AT C AT AR g 0 0 ol T s R A IR A fH LD A THBR AP
* Iy A 5% 7 R A A B Ay o
o B .

All the issued share capital represents ordinary shares or registered capital except where noted by:

* Represent non-voting deferred shares.
* Represent non-voting preference shares.

BEAN > AR R B ¥ 48 1Y Michel René Enterprises Limited °

In addition, *** represents Michel René Enterprises Limited which operates in Taiwan.

# EiERIA 50 R T e 3 /A

A EAFIIM SRS U2 HIEMA MU PR £
e %S N ) Ry AR R ST A R M IR

# Companies not audited by KPMG.

# The English translation of the companies name are for reference only. The official name of the companies are in Chinese.

L These are wholly foreign owned enterprises registered in the PRC.

12 71 2019/20 Annual Report
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